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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION 

 

The information provided in this Listing Statement contains statements based on "forward-looking information" 

within the meaning of Canadian securities legislation (collectively, "forward-looking statements"), including with 

respect to the jurisdictions in which PrimeWest Mortgage Investment Corporations (the “Corporation” or 

“PrimeWest”) anticipates it will make investments,  the term of the mortgage loans that the Corporation will make, 

the types of loans the Corporation will make, the rate of return anticipated to be earned by the Corporation from its 

mortgage loans, the number of mortgage loans the Corporation will make, the size of such loans, the continued 

performance of such loans relative to the Corporation's history, the benefits of allowing other lenders to participate 

in the Corporation's mortgage loans, the frequency of anticipated distributions to be made by the Corporation, and 

the Corporation's anticipated expenses. These forward-looking statements are made as of the date of this Listing 

Statement. 

 

In certain cases, forward-looking statements can be identified by use of words such as "believe," "intend," "may," 

"will," "should," "plans," "anticipates," "believes," "potential," "intends," "expects," and other similar expressions. 

Forward-looking statements reflect our current expectations and assumptions as of the date of the statements, and 

are subject to a number of known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, many of which are beyond the 

Corporation's control, which may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different 

from any anticipated future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking 

statements. 

 

Readers are advised to carefully review and consider the risk factors identified in this Listing Statement under Item 

17 "Risk Factors" for a discussion of the factors that could cause the Corporation's actual results, performance and 

achievements to be materially different from any anticipated future results, performance or achievements expressed 

or implied by the forward-looking statements. 

 

These risks, uncertainties and other factors include, but are not limited to: risks associated with mortgage loans 

(including credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk, the lack of mortgage insurance, mortgage defaults, impaired loans 

and priority of security for the Corporation's loans), redemption risk with respect to the Class A shares in the capital 

of the Corporation (sometimes referred to herein as "Common Shares" or "Shares"), competition, the limited 

marketability of the Shares, risks of leverage, risks with respect to the Corporation's designation as a "mortgage 

investment corporation" under the Income Tax Act (Canada), conflict of interest, the impact of changes in 

government regulations on the Corporation and its business, risks regarding distributions on the Shares, risks 

regarding the diversification of the Corporation's mortgage portfolio and the inability to fund an optimal level of 

mortgage investments. 

 

Material factors or assumptions that were applied in drawing a conclusion or making an estimate set out in the 

forward-looking statements include that: the Corporation will primarily invest in mortgage loans made in 

Saskatchewan; the mortgage loans will be short term in nature; the mortgage loans will earn a higher rate of return 

than rates earned by institutional lenders; and the performance of the Corporation's ongoing mortgage portfolio will 

be consistent with that of its historic investments. Readers are cautioned not to place undue influence on the 

forward-looking statements or assumptions on which the Corporation's forward-looking statements are based. 

Readers are further cautioned that the foregoing list of assumptions is not exhaustive and it is recommended that 

readers consult the more complete discussion of the Corporation's business included in this Listing Statement. 

 

Although the Corporation believes that the assumptions on which the forward-looking statements are made are 

reasonable, based on information available to the Corporation on the date such statements were made, no assurances 

can be made as to whether these assumptions will prove to be correct. Accordingly, readers should not place undue 

reliance on forward-looking information. The Corporation does not undertake to update any forward-looking 

information except as, and to the extent, required by applicable Canadian securities laws. The forward-looking 

statements contained in this Listing Statement are expressly qualified by this cautionary statement. 

 

In this Listing Statement, all references to “$” or “CDN$” are to Canadian dollars. 
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2. Corporate Structure 

 

2.1 The Corporation has its head office at 307 Jessop Ave., Saskatoon Saskatchewan, Canada, S7N 1Y5. 

 

2.2 The Corporation was incorporated in Saskatchewan on March 22, 2005 and commenced operations in 

October 2005, as a Mortgage Investment Corporation (“MIC”).  It is extra-provincially registered in 

Alberta and Manitoba.  It is registered under the Trust & Loan Corporation Act (1997) Saskatchewan.   

The Corporation is a reporting issuer in Saskatchewan, Ontario, Alberta, Manitoba and British Columbia 

with share capital consisting of an unlimited number of Class A voting, common shares and an unlimited 

number of Class B shares, issuable in series.  No Class B shares have ever been issued.  

 

 The Articles of Incorporation of the Corporation dated March 22, 2005 were amended on August 2, 

2005 to place restrictions on the number of Class A shares that might be redeemed in a year.  On July 

20, 2010 the articles were amended to increase the maximum number of directors from seven members 

to 10 members. A further amendment to the articles occurred on January 3, 2014 where a new Schedule 

“A” was adopted wherein the Redemption Price of a Class A share was set at the lesser of $10.00 per 

share or the book value per Class A share, as stated in the most recent audited financial statements of the 

Corporation. A retraction period, between April 1 and April 30 of each year, was also established for a 

holder to give notice of its intention to redeem all or a portion of its shares. In addition, limits were 

established pursuant to which the Corporation, subject to board of directors (“Board”) discretion to 

increase, would not be required to redeem in any year more than 10% of the issued and outstanding 

shares.  The articles were further amended on July 29, 2014 to adopt a new Schedule "A" wherein 

certain changes were made to clarify, among other things, how notices to the Corporation can be made 

and to provide that redemptions of Class "A" shares will occur on a pro rata basis. 

     

2.3 The Corporation does not have any subsidiaries. 

  

2.4  The Corporation is not re-qualifying following a fundamental change and is not proposing an acquisition, 

amalgamation, merger, reorganization or arrangement. 

 

2.5 The Corporation is neither a non-corporate Issuer nor an Issuer incorporated outside of Canada. 

 

  

3. General Development of the Business 

 

3.1 Overview 

The Corporation, as a MIC under the Income Tax Act (Canada), is in the business of investing in and 

managing a diversified portfolio of mortgages.  The principal investment objective of the Corporation is to 

provide shareholders income while preserving capital for distribution or reinvestment.  The Corporation 

expects to derive its earnings principally from the receipt of mortgage interest payments and interest on the 

cash reserves of the Corporation.  

 

The mortgages the Corporation invests in are primarily properties located in Saskatchewan and secured 

loans made to qualified real estate developers and owners for residential, commercial and industrial 

projects. At present the Corporation also has one (1) residential mortgage and one (1) residual loan located 

in Manitoba and one (1) commercial mortgage located in Alberta. The mortgages are typically to be short 

term in nature with maturities of between 6 and 24 months and will include construction loans, bridge 

loans, land loans and equity investments on a limited basis. The Corporation invests in mortgages that are 

not the type of mortgages provided by institutional lenders and as a result the Corporation's mortgages bear 

a higher risk and are expected to earn a higher rate of return than rates earned by institutional lenders. The 

mortgages bear interest at a fixed rate of interest or at a specified rate over the prime lending rate of the 

Corporation's bank, and are often subject to a minimum rate of interest.    
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The Corporation's Investments 

 

The Corporation's investments primarily consist of first and second mortgage loans advanced on existing 

residential and commercial properties and for the development of land, residential, recreational, 

commercial and industrial properties.  Corporate policy is that all mortgage loans funded and held by the 

Corporation are to meet the investment criteria set out below. The Corporation's mortgage loans, in addition 

to loans secured by residential and commercial properties, will typically fall into the following major 

mortgage loan categories: 

 

(i) Land Loans - These loans are typically advanced to finance the acquisition and/or the development of 

land currently zoned or designated by a municipality for a use consistent with the loan application. The 

development process includes, among other things, land acquisition, zoning and/or development approval, 

road construction, installation of services and utilities, and other improvements required by the governing 

municipality and the Corporation's financing may be for all or any phase of the development process. The 

funding of progress advances is usually carried out on a work-in-place/cost-to-complete basis; 

 

     (ii) Construction Loans - These loans are advanced to finance the construction, development or re-

development of various types of properties on a work-in-place/cost to complete basis; 

 

(iii) Bridge Loans - These loans are advanced to finance completed or substantially completed buildings to 

allow owners to complete their sales or leasing program and may include additional funds for 

improvements and upgrades; 

 

 (iv) Equity Investments — Equity or other interests in real estate projects or entities owning or carrying out 

same which shall not be managed or developed by the Corporation. 

 

There can be no guarantee or assurance that the Corporation will not experience loan losses.   

Operating Restrictions 

PrimeWest’s investment practices are subject to certain operating, lending and other restrictions which have 

been adopted by the Corporation’s Board. According to these restrictions, the Corporation is not to: 

 

(i) make a mortgage loan if, immediately after the closing of the loan transaction, the amount so lent 

would be greater than 20% of the Corporation’s net assets, while the net assets are in excess of $2,000,000; 

(ii) guarantee securities or obligations of any person or Corporation;  

(iii) engage in securities lending; 

(iv) engage in derivative transactions for any purpose; 

(v) develop, manage or acquire (except by foreclosure or other enforcement of its rights as mortgagee) 

any real property; 

(vi) enter into a forward commitment binding on the Corporation unless the Corporation has, at the 

time such commitment is made, sufficient cash or "near cash" securities to fund the loan to which the 

commitment relates; or 

(vii) otherwise conduct its business in a manner that would cause the Corporation not to qualify as a 

MIC, that would result in the Common Shares not being a "qualified investment" for a trust governed by a 

registered retirement savings plan, registered retirement income fund, registered education savings plan or 

deferred profit sharing plan ("Registered Plans") or that would result in Common Shares being foreign 

property for the purpose of the Tax Act. 

 

Any change to the fundamental investment objectives of the Corporation requires shareholder approval 

given at a meeting of the shareholders of the Corporation called to consider such change 
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Operating policies 

In addition to the foregoing operating restrictions, the operations and affairs of the Corporation are to be 

conducted in accordance with the following operating policies: 

 

(i) the Corporation must obtain a Phase I environmental audit where the real estate to be provided as 

security for a mortgage is commercial property. Where the real estate is not commercial property, a Phase I 

environmental study will not be commissioned unless management deems such an audit to be necessary; 

(ii) all property taxes shall be paid to the date of any mortgage advance on real property provided as 

security for a mortgage and the borrower shall agree to pay property taxes on the tax instalment payment 

plan (TIPP) with the local tax authority unless management has determined that the establishment of such a 

TIPP account is not necessary; and 

(iii) the legal title to each mortgage and other investments of the Corporation must be held by and 

registered in the name of the Corporation. 

Investment policies 

The Corporation has adopted certain policies which establish the investment criteria for the Corporation’s 

investments, which are as follows: 

 

(i) the Corporation may only invest in commercial and residential mortgage loans secured against real 

property situated in Canada and primarily in Saskatchewan, Manitoba and Alberta; 

(ii) the Corporation as a general practice maintains approximately 10% of its total assets in cash or 

"near-cash" securities (such as units of money market mutual funds) or an equivalent amount of funds 

available under the Corporation's line of credit financing, in order to meet redemption requests and also to 

be in a position to redeem a prior mortgagee’s interest in a given property if management considers that it 

would be advantageous for the Corporation to do so having regard to the market value of the property and 

the amount of mortgage debt due to the Corporation. Mangement will monitor the cash and credit position 

of the Corporation on a regular basis in order to maintain its cash, near-cash and/or credit reserve positions 

at a necessary level; 

(iii) all bridge financing loans in which the Corporation invests will be secured by an interest against 

title to the real property that is the subject of the bridge financing loan and an irrevocable assignment of 

proceeds from the sale of such real property; 

(iv) the Corporation may not make any loan or investment which does not meet the "Canadian 

content" requirements of paragraph 130.l(6)(c) of the Tax Act; 

(v) the Corporation may not make a loan which, together with all other mortgage loans that have 

priority over or rank pari passu with such loan, exceeds 95% of the fair market value of the mortgaged 

property, except when: 

(a) such mortgage is insured under the National Housing Act (Canada) or any similar 

legislation of a province, or 

(b) the excess over 90% is insured by an insurance Corporation registered or licensed under 

the Insurance Companies Act (Canada) or similar legislation of a Canadian province or territory; 

(vi) the Corporation may not make a loan secured by a mortgage on a property in which: 

(a) any senior officer or director of the Corporation, or 

(b) any associate or affiliate of a person referred to in (a) above has an interest as mortgagor; 

(vii) the Corporation will not trade in mortgages in the secondary market although the Corporation 

retains the ability, in exceptional circumstances, to assign a mortgage to a third party; 

(viii) the Corporation may not hold a mortgage the initial term of which exceeds two years, but 

mortgages held by the Corporation may contain provisions permitting the mortgagor, when not in default, 

to renew the  mortgage for one or more additional terms; 

(ix) generally, the Corporation’s mortgages will not secure debt incurred for the construction or 

development of real estate although the Corporation may from time to time engage, under strict guidelines, 

in bridge financing for such projects instead of holding idle cash; and 

(x) traditional lenders will from time to time refer bridge financing opportunities to management 

where the lender has provided a "take-out loan" (i.e. a commitment to make a loan secured by a first-

ranking mortgage where such loan will be advanced upon completion of the construction of a building in 
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order to repay a prior loan which financed such construction). The Corporation may provide bridge loan 

financing to clients of "take-out" lenders on a draw-down basis by means of higher interest loans for 

amounts equal to, in the aggregate, up to 95% of the appraised finished value of the property.  Real 

property and/or personal property security will be obtained by the Corporation when providing this type of 

financing. 

 

The Board may approve an amendment to the investment policies of the Corporation from time to time.  

 

If, due to a change in the provisions of the Tax Act or other legislation applicable to the Corporation, any of 

the foregoing investment policies and investment criteria requires amendment in order to comply with such 

change in legislation, the Board may make such change and such change will be binding on the 

Corporation.  Management will be required to comply with and observe such change immediately upon 

such change becoming effective.  

Investment Criteria 

The Corporation has established investment criteria, which includes the following: 

 

(i) the Corporation will make investments so that it maintains its status as a MIC; 

(ii) loans will be secured by mortgages and/or other appropriate security interests in favour of the 

Corporation, either as sole mortgagee or co-mortgagee, and each mortgage will be duly registered as a 

charge against the real property which is the subject of the mortgage.  All investments made with respect to 

loan applications submitted by a mortgage broker ("Broker") will be reviewed and must have received a 

positive recommendation by such Broker; 

(iii) bridge financing loans will be secured by an irrevocable direction to pay such loans from the 

proceeds of a binding contract to sell real property and an irrevocable assignment of such proceeds in 

favour of the Corporation, either as sole assignee or co-assignee; 

(iv) loans will be made to borrowers who deal with the Corporation, Brokers and their affiliates, 

shareholders, officers and directors at arm's length; 

(v) mortgages will be registered as a charge against real property, provided that the overall loan to 

appraised value ratio does not exceed 95% (including prior charges); 

(vi) prior to funding the loan, the Corporation will obtain current appraisals on all properties which 

secure the loan.  The appraisals will be completed by an accredited appraiser approved by the Corporation; 

(vii) the initial term of each loan will not exceed a term of 24 months; 

(viii) the Corporation will make loans primarily in the Provinces of Saskatchewan, Manitoba and 

Alberta and may expand to other provinces and territories in Canada. Subject to corporate and other 

registration requirements, there are limitations on the amount of funds that may be invested in any 

particular Province or Territory of Canada.  

(ix) the Corporation may advance additional monies on a loan in order to protect the loan, 

notwithstanding that the additional advance of funds may increase the loan to value ratio over and above 

the parameters set out above. 

 

The general development of the Corporation’s business for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018 

compared with the corresponding period in the previous year is disclosed in the Management Discussion 

and Analysis for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018 (the “MD&A”), which is attached hereto as 

Appendix C. 

 

3.2 There have been no significant acquisitions completed by the Corporation nor is any significant probable 

acquisition proposed by the Corporation for which financial statements would be required under National 

Instrument 41-101 General Prospectus Requirements, if this Listing Statement were a prospectus; and  

 

 There have been no significant dispositions completed by the Corporation during the most recently 

completed financial year or the current financial year for which pro forma financial statements would be 

required under National Instrument 41-101 General Prospectus Requirements, if this Listing Statement 

were a prospectus. 
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3.3 There are no trends, commitments, events or uncertainties known to management which could reasonably 

be expected to have a material effect on the Corporation other than those disclosed in the December 31, 

2018 Financial Statements and MD&A, attached hereto and as those described in the Cautionary Statement 

Regarding Forward-Looking Information and “Part 17 – Risk Factors”.   

 

 

 

 

4 Narrative Description of the Business 

 

4.1(1) PrimeWest continues to operate primarily in the Province of Saskatchewan with some mortgage holdings in 

Manitoba and Alberta.   The Corporation operates in a market where mortgage receivables continue to 

adjust as a result of the decline in real estate prices due to the downturn in the economy.    

 

Events in 2016 led to significant changes in the operations of the Corporation.   In October 2017 the 

Corporation filed a Statement of Claim against Donald Zealand, the former President and Chief Executive 

Officer of PrimeWest.  PrimeWest’s claim against Mr. Zealand is for breach of corporate policy, gross 

negligence, and breach of fiduciary duty while acting as President and CEO.  Mr. Zealand denies all 

allegations made as against him and pleads counter claim for damages for wrongful dismissal.  PrimeWest 

solicitors have filed a defence to the counter claim and the action is progressing.   

 

In June 2018 Randy Koroluk commenced a class action lawsuit in the Court of Queen’s Bench for 

Saskatchewan against the existing and past directors (since 2015) of the Corporation .  The legal action 

deals with oversight of the actions of Don Zealand, the former CEO of the Corporation, and the collection 

and disposition of mortgages assets since the departure of the former CEO.  To the best of the 

Corporation’s knowledge, the legal action has not been served on all of the named defendants.  The court 

action cannot proceed until it has been certified as a class action by the Saskatchewan Court of Queen’s 

Bench.  A defence will be filed denying all allegations. 

 

On July 13, 2018 De bbie Gloria Burwash served the Corporation and others with a Statement of Claim 

seeking rescission of her shares or damages in lieu of rescission for the capital raise conducted by the 

Corporation in May 2016.  The Corporation’s solicitors have filed a defence to the claim. 

 

On July 13, 2018 Granite Enterprises Inc. served the Corporation and others with a Statement of Claim 

seeking rescission of its shares or damages in lieu of rescission for the capital raise conducted by the 

Corporation in May 2016.  The Corporation’s solicitors have filed a defence to the claim. 

 

Due to the inherent uncertainties, no accurate quantification of any cost, or timing of such cost which may 

arise from any of the legal proceedings outlined above can be made. 

 

During 2018 the Board of Directors and Management continued in efforts to mitigate additional losses as 

they undertook extensive cost cutting and stabilization measures.  In Saskatchewan, efforts to resolve non-

performing loans is a slow process.  In one instance foreclosure proceedings which began in July 2016 

resulted in the mortgaged property only being listed for judicial sale in September 2018. 

 

At year end the Corporation held nine mortgages in various stages of the foreclosure process. Properties of 

four mortgages are currently listed for judicial sale while the property of one additional mortgage is 

expected to be listed for judicial sale within the next three months. 

 

The Corporation continues to seek options to manage two large loans which exist within the mortgage 

portfolio.  The Corporation is not in priority position and payments are in arrears.  The delay in realization 

of the mortgages coupled with the continuing soft market resulted in the Corporation increasing loan loss 

provisions on these mortgages to the full extent of the loans in the prior year.  The Board and Management 

continue to take strides in an attempt to mitigate the losses of the Corporation and thereby improve the 

financial condition of the Corporation.    

 

Assets held were listed for sale, with two assets being sold in 2018 for proceeds of $30,000.   
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In July 2017, the Corporation acquired title to 16 condo units in one condo building and began to market 

them.  While 2017 saw the sale of three of the condo units, there were no sales in 2018.  Increased 

provisions have been accrued to reflect the delayed sales.  New marketing strategies are showing increased 

interest in this property.   

 

Due to the non-performing status of many of the Corporation’s mortgages and the current state of the 

Saskatchewan real estate market new mortgages are not actively being pursued. 

 

The Corporation continues its current policy of paying no dividends and making no redemptions.   

 

 

 

4.1(2)   The Corporation’s business as a MIC is investing in residential and commercial mortgages. A network of 

mortgage brokers source mortgage applicants, and after applicable due diligence and credit searches, 

mortgage applications are accepted and placed.      

4.2 The Corporation does not hold or trade any asset back securities. 

4.3 The Corporation does not have any mineral properties. 

4.4 The Corporation does not have any oil and gas properties. 

 

 

5. Selected Consolidated Financial Information  

 

5.1 Until December 31, 2013 the Corporation operated as an Investment Fund under National Instrument 81-

102 - Investment Funds ("NI 81-102"), filing its financial statements ("Financial Statements"), prepared in 

accordance with generally accepted account principles (“GAAP”), semi-annually on SEDAR (System for 

Electronic Development Analysis).   

 

 Effective January 1, 2014 the Corporation became a reporting issuer, governed under National Instrument 

51-102 – Continuous Disclosure Obligations ("NI 51-102") and its Financial Statements, now prepared in 

accordance with International Financial reporting Standards (“IFRS”), are filed quarterly on SEDAR.  

 

 The financial statements provide comparative information in respect of the previous period. In addition, the 

Company presents an additional statement of financial position at the beginning of the preceding period 

when there is a retrospective application of an accounting policy, a retrospective restatement, or a 

reclassification of items in financial statements. An additional statement of financial position as at January 

1, 2015 was presented in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016 due to 

the correction of an error retrospectively. For more information, please refer to the Annual Listing 

Statement dated March 30, 2017.  

 

As of December 31, 2018 the Corporation had expected credit losses of $7,970,557 compared with an 

allowance for credit losses of $7,643,837 at December 31, 2017.  Approximately 83% of the expected 

credit losses at December 31, 2018 can be attributed to 3 Commercial mortgages representing $6,607,496 

in losses.  Please see Management Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) - Appendix C. 

 

 The information below should be read in conjunction with the attached Management Discussion and 

Analysis (“MD&A”), the audited Financial Statements and related notes and other financial information, 

filed for the year ended December 31, 2018.  These and other filings are available at www.sedar.com.   

      

 Description December 2018 December 2017  

a) Total Revenue $683,773 $1,501,513  

b) Income (Loss) Before Extraordinary 

Income    

    Total ($1,779,157) ($3,077,888)  

    Per share ($0.94) ($1.63)  
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c) Net Income (Loss)    

    Total ($1,779,157) ($3,077,888)  

    Per share ($0.94) ($1.63)  

d) Total Assets $9,260,093 $12,202,127  

e) Total Long-Term Financial Liabilities 0 0  

f) Cash Dividends Declared Per Share $0.00 $0.00  

     
   

5.3 Dividends 

 

 In each fiscal year of the Corporation, the registered holders of Class A shares are entitled to receive 

dividends as and when declared from time to time by the Board.  Subject to the Corporation retaining 

sufficient cash reserves for future or anticipated operating expenses, it is the policy of the Corporation as a 

MIC to dividend surplus income out to shareholders prior to completion of the Corporation’s fiscal year 

end.  It had been the practice of the Corporation to declare dividends at the end of each fiscal quarter. 

On September 20, 2016, the Board of Directors suspended the declaration of dividends for the remainder of 

2016.   On April 3, 2017 the Corporation announced that as a result of the significant loan losses recorded, 

all dividends and/or redemptions would remain suspended until further notice. 

 

 The Corporation’s history of dividend payments to date is: 

 Quarter ending March 31, 2006    $0.15 per Common Share 

 Quarter ending June 30, 2006 through to  

 Quarter ending June 30, 2016     $0.20 per Common Share 

   

5.4 The preparation of Financial Statements commencing January 1, 2014 is in accordance with IFRS.    Prior 

to January 1, 2014 Financial Statements were prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP. All Financial 

Statements are presented in Canadian dollars. 

 

6. Management's Discussion and Analysis 

 

The Corporation’s MD&A for the year ended December 31, 2018, attached to this Listing Statement as 

Appendix “C”, should be read in conjunction with the Financial Statements of the Corporation for the year 

ended December 31, 2018 attached as Appendix “D”.  

 

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make 

judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities and contingent 

liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the 

reporting period. Estimates and judgments are continuously evaluated and are based on management’s 

experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable 

under the circumstances. However, actual outcomes can differ from these estimates.  

 

The key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of causing material adjustment to the 

amounts recognized in the Financial Statements are Expected Credit Losses on Mortgages and Assets 

Taken in Settlement of Debt.  Refer to Appendix “D” - Note 3 of the attached Financial Statements.   

 

6.4 Variations – See Section 5.1. 

 

6.5 Results of Operations – See Section 5.2. 

6.7 Liquidity Risk – Refer to Appendix “D” - Note 13 of the attached Financial Statements  

 

6.8 Capital Resources  

 

The Corporation considers its capital structure to consist of debt and shareholders' equity. The Corporation 

considers debt to include bank indebtedness, demand loans and due to related parties.   
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The margined, demand operating line of credit bears interest at prime plus 2.0% (2017 – prime plus 1.5%), 

has an authorized limit which is the lesser of the margin calculation and $7,500,000 (2017 – $7,500,000) and 

is secured by a general security agreement and an assignment of mortgages receivable. The operating line’s 

margin is calculated using variable percentages of eligible mortgages as set out by the bank. 

 

At year-end the maximum margin available was $4,434,500 (December 31, 2017 - $6,081,200). 

 

The credit agreement contains certain financial covenants that must be maintained.  At December 31, 2018 

the Corporation was in compliance with all financial covenants and currently remains in compliance. 

 

The Corporation's authorized share capital consists of an unlimited number of Class A voting, common 

shares, and an unlimited number of Class B shares, issuable in series. No Class B shares have ever been 

issued.   

 

The Corporation manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic 

conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets.  In order to maintain or adjust the capital 

structure, the Corporation may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, restrict annual 

redemption of shares as permitted within the Corporation’s articles, issue new shares, issue new debt, and 

issue new debt to replace existing debt.   

 

Pursuant to the Corporation’s credit agreement with its principal banker it is required to meet certain 

financial covenants.  If the Corporation is in violation of any of these covenants its ability to pay dividends 

may be inhibited.  

An unlimited number of Class B shares may, at any time, or from time to time, be issued in one or more 

series.  The Board, subject to certain limitations, shall determine upon issuance of any Class B shares the 

number of shares to be issued and the designation, rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attached to 

those shares.   

    

6.9 Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements  

 

Except for the office space lease which expires May 31, 2019, the Corporation does not participate in off-

balance sheet financing arrangements.   

 

6.10 Transactions with Related Parties 

 

In the year-ended December 31, 2018 the Company paid property maintenance and inspection fees on 

defaulted mortgages of $6,265 (2017 - $992) to a Management Company in which a director is a 

shareholder.  These transactions were incurred during the normal course of operations on similar terms and 

conditions to those entered into with unrelated parties.  These transactions are measured at the exchange 

amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties. 

 

 

6.11 The annual financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018 have been prepared on a going 

concern basis which assumes that the Company will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities 

in the normal course of business for the foreseeable future. The Company incurred a net loss of $1,779,157 

during the year ended December 31, 2018, and as of that date, had an accumulated deficit of $8,256,879. 

The decrease in the estimated fair value of the mortgage receivable portfolio, assets taken in settlement of 

debt and the reduced level of income generating assets casts significant doubt on the Company’s ability to 

sustain operations.  While the Company is using its best efforts to realize the value of its assets, in the 

current economic conditions it is difficult to predict the outcome of these efforts.   All of these factors 

indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that casts significant doubt on the Company’s ability to 

continue as a going concern.  These financial statements do not include adjustments to the measurement of 

recorded assets and liabilities and related expenses that might be necessary should the Company be unable 

to continue as a going concern and therefore be required to realize its assets and liquidate its liabilities in 
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other than the normal course of business at amounts different from those in the accompanying financial 

statements. 

. 

 

6.12 Proposed Transactions 

 

The Corporation has suspended any further dividends and the redemption of shares. 

   

6.13 Changes in Accounting Policies – Refer to Note 4 of the attached Financial Statements (Appendix D) 

 

6.14 Financial Instruments and Risk Management – Refer to Note 13 of the attached Financial Statements 

(Appendix D) 

 

 

6.15  

 

6.16 Updated Disclosure  

  

6.17 Additional Disclosure for Issuers without Significant Revenue: 

 

N/A 

 

6.18 Description of Securities: 

 The Corporation’s authorized share capital consists of an unlimited number of Class A voting, common 

shares and an unlimited number of Class B shares, issuable in series.  Outstanding Class A shares at 

December 31, 2018 were 1,888,374.   Refer to Note 9 of the attached Financial Statements (Appendix D). 

No Class B shares have been issued. See Section 10.4 of this Listing Statement for a summary of the 

material provisions attached to the Class A shares. 

 The Corporation does not have any options, warrants or other securities convertible into shares. 

6.19 Not applicable 

 

6.20 Not Applicable  

 

6.21 Not Applicable 

 

   

7. Market for Securities 

 

7.1 The Corporation’s Class A shares currently trade on the CSE under the symbol PRI.  

 

 

8. Consolidated Capitalization 

 

8.1 The following illustrates changes to the Corporation’s share capital since the fiscal year ended December 

31, 2017: 

 

 Shares outstanding at December 31, 2017 - 1,890,729.0 

 Shares redeemed during 2018   -         (2,355) 

 Shares issued during 2018    -              Nil 

 Shares outstanding at December 31, 2018 - 1,888,374.0  

 

 While the Corporation has suspended all redemptions, during 2018 the Board approved the return to 

treasury of 2,355 (2017 – Nil) shares to satisfy an outstanding receivable. 
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9. Options to Purchase Securities 

 

9.1 There are no outstanding options to purchase Class A shares or Class B shares of the Corporation.   

 

 

10. Description of the Securities 

 

10.1 The following is a summary of the material provisions attaching to the Class A shares of the Corporation: 

(a) Voting Rights  

The registered holders of the Class A shares are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of 

the shareholders, which include the right to vote for directors.  

 

(b) Dividends 

In each Fiscal Year of the Corporation, the registered holders of Common Shares are entitled 

to receive dividends as and when declared from time to time by the Board, acting in its sole 

discretion, out of the money of the Corporation properly available for dividends. Subject to 

the Corporation retaining sufficient cash reserves for future or anticipated operating expenses, 

it is the policy of the Corporation to dividend surplus income out to shareholders prior to 

completion of the Corporation's Fiscal Year end and thereby minimizes taxable income. It is 

the practice of the Corporation to declare dividends at the end of each fiscal quarter. 

(c) Priority on Liquidation, Dissolution  

In the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Corporation or other 

distribution of its assets among shareholders, distribution of the assets of the Corporation shall 

be made pro rata in accordance with the number of Class A shares held. 

(d) Redemption by a Shareholder 

Subject to applicable law, a holder of shares may require the Corporation to redeem any or all 

such holder's shares by giving written notice of redemption during the period April 1
st
 to 

April 30
th

 in any year (the “Redemption Period”), with the actual redemption to occur on or 

before July 31
st
 of that year, with such redemption not to exceed 10% of the issued and 

outstanding shares, unless otherwise determined by the Board in its sole discretion.        

 

The redemption price shall be the lesser of: (i) $10.00 per share or (ii) the book value of the 

shares as determined in the Corporation's audited financial statements as at the immediately 

preceding fiscal year end (currently December 31). 

 

The Corporation will redeem those Shares that have been tendered for redemption on a pro 

rata basis irrespective of the order in which the Corporation receives the respective 

redemption notice in the Redemption Period. 

         

Any shareholder may during the Redemption Period, in its sole discretion, provide written 

notice of its election to revoke its applicable redemption notice, and the shares of such 

shareholder shall not be redeemed until such time as such shareholder delivers a new 

redemption notice. 

 

Shares that are being redeemed within one year of the original date of purchase of such 

Shares, shall be subject to an early redemption fee of 3% of the redemption value of such 

shares to be redeemed. The Board of the Corporation may, at its sole discretion, waive 

payment of any redemption fee. 

(e) No Redemption in Certain Circumstances  

In any fiscal year the Corporation would not be required or authorized to redeem any shares 

if: 
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(i) the Corporation is, or would after the redemption, be unable to pay its liabilities generally 

as they become due; or 

(ii) the realizable value of the assets of the Corporation, after the redemption, would be less 

than the aggregate of: 

 its liabilities; and  

 the amount that would be required to pay the holders of shares of the Corporation 

that have a right to be paid, on redemption or in a liquidation, rateably with or prior 

to the holder of the Shares to be redeemed. 

 Any Class A shares which the Corporation has not redeemed in a fiscal year because of such 

limitation will, subject to the provisions of The Business Corporations Act (Saskatchewan), be 

redeemed in the following fiscal year, but only if such limitation can be complied with in that 

year, before the Corporation redeems any other Class A shares.   

 

 

10.2 Debt securities  

 

 Operating Line of Credit – Conexus Credit Union 

- Credit Limit - $7.5 million 

- Interest Rate at December 31, 2018 – 5.95% 

- Credit Utilized at December 31, 2018 - $1,753,546 

 

10.4 The Corporation does not currently have any other securities that are issued and outstanding. 

 

 

10.5 Modification of terms: 

 

No modification, amendment or variation of any rights have been made to the securities of the Corporation 

except as described herein. 

10.6 Other attributes: 

 (a) The Class B shares rank in priority to the Class A shares in respect to dividends and dissolution, 

however no Class B shares are issued and the Corporation has no intention of issuing such 

shares. 

(b) See section 10.1 hereof (Redemption).  

 

 

 

10.7 Prior Sales 

 

 N/A   

 

10.8 Stock Exchange Price 

 

 52 Week High - $1.63  52 Week Low - $0.50 

 

 

11. Escrowed Securities 

 

 N/A 
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12. Principal Shareholders  

 

 To the knowledge of the Corporation, no shareholder holds or owns directly or beneficially more than 

10% of the issued and outstanding Class A shares of the Corporation. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

13. Directors and Officers 

 

INTERESTS OF OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, and MANAGEMENT 

 

 

Compensation and Securities Held - The following table sets out specified information about each director and 

officer of the Corporation.  

 

 

Name and 

municipality of 

principal 

residence 

Positions and 

the date of 

obtaining that 

position 

2018  

Fees/Salary 

earned 

($) 

2017 

Fees/Salary 

earned 

($)  

Class A Shares 

owned or 

controlled  

Class A 

Shares as a 

% of Total 

(1,890,729) 

Tom Robinson 

Regina, SK 

Director since 

June 2017 and 

Chairman of the 

Board and Chair 

of the Audit 

Committee 

$22,800.00 $23,700.00 1,000 .05% 

 

Thomas 

Archibald 

Saskatoon, SK   

Director since 

May 2007  
$16,800.00 $17,900.00 63,807 3.37% 

Francis Bast 

Regina, SK   

Director since 

July 2005 and 

Chair of the 

Credit 

Committee 

$19,200.00 $19,400.00 41,417 2.19% 

 

Wilson Olive,  

Regina, SK 

Director since 

August 22, 2016 

and Chair of the 

Governance and 

H.R. Committee 

$19,200.00 $17,500.00 - - 

Marlene 

Kaminsky 

Saskatoon, SK 

Chief Financial 

Officer and 

Interim CEO 

since May 16, 

2017 

$120,000.00 $114,375.00 
 

1,500 

 

.08% 
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Management - The following table and subsequent text sets out the principal occupations of the directors and 

executive officers of the Corporation over the past five years and any relevant experience in a business similar to the 

Corporation's: 

 

 

   Name                                               Principal occupations and related experience 

 

Tom Robinson 

 

 

Director since June 2016 and Chair – Mr. Robinson is a Retired Regional Managing 

Partner of KPMG LLP.  Tom joined KPMG in 1975, became a partner in 1984, and 

retired from the firm in 2014.  Tom served in numerous leadership roles with KPMG.  

He was the Regional Managing Partner of the West Region for 15 years and the 

Managing Partner for the Regina office for 25 years.  Tom was also a member of the 

firm’s Management Committee for 5 years.  For more than 39 years he has provided 

audit, business advisory and consulting services to large and medium sized 

organizations in the private and public sectors. 

 

Thomas Archibald 

 

Director since May 2007– Mr. Archibald is a graduate of the U of S College of 

Commerce (Economics). He has over 20 years of experience in the healthcare industry 

at the CEO and VP levels. Currently he is the President of Eden Health Solutions, a 

privately held consulting Corporation. His other achievements include Past President 

of SaskSport/Saskatchewan Lotteries and past CEO of Parkridge Centre, an 

organization named as “100 Best Companies to Work for in Canada” by the Financial 

Post.  

 

Francis Bast 
 

Director since July 2005 and Chair of the Credit Committee – Francis Bast has over 

40 years of experience in finance, real estate sales and real estate development. He 

was previously the principal owner of the Century 21 Franchise growing it throughout 

Saskatchewan. In the past 10 years Francis has been very active in both condominium 

and commercial development.  His key responsibilities include purchasing land, 

raising Investment funds, financing and managing the leasing sales of the properties 

and real estate broker. 

 

Wilson Olive 
 

Director since August 2016 and Chair of the Corporate Governance and Human 

Resource Committee – Mr. Olive has served as senior counsel to Olive Waller 

Zinkhan & Waller LLP which firm has provided legal services to the Corporation 

since its inception in 2006.   Wilson has served as a director with a number of public 

companies.  He also served as past chair of the Board to the Regina Regional 

Economy Authority and the Saskatchewan Institute of Applied Arts and Science.   

 

Marlene Kaminsky 
 

Marlene Kaminsky CPA, CMA was appointed Chief Financial Officer and Interim 

Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation effective May 16, 2017.  She was 

appointed Chief Financial Officer effective June 19, 2016, and has served as Acting 

Chief Financial Officer of the Corporation since May 29, 2015.  Prior to this Marlene 

served as Controller of the Corporation beginning in 2013. Marlene served as 

Corporate Comptroller & Office Manager for a multi-disciplined industrial contractor 

in northern Manitoba for 18 years prior to her employment with PrimeWest. Marlene 

obtained her CMA designation with the Society of Management Accountants of 

Alberta. 

 

The Corporation has 1 full time employee and 1 casual employee who assist in the day-to-day management and 

administration of the Corporation. The Corporation will retain the services of such other individuals as may be 

necessary from time to time to properly conduct the business of the Corporation. 

 

 

Governance and Human Resource Committee: 
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The Corporation Governance and Human Resource Committee consists of up to three members chosen from 

amongst the Board.  The purpose of the Governance and Human Resource Committee is to assist the Board in 

fulfilling its oversight obligation relating to governance issues, including ensuring structures and procedures exist to 

permit the Board to operate independent of management, to assist in communications between the Board and 

shareholders, assist in the education of new Board members and to review and make recommendations to the board 

as to committee members. 

 

As at the date hereof, the members of the Governance and Human Resource Committee are Wilson Olive (Chair) 

and Tom Archibald.  

 

Credit Committee: 

 

The Corporation has established a credit committee, which is comprised of two members chosen from amongst the 

members of the Board. The primary purpose of the Credit Committee is to oversee lending guidelines and to provide 

oversight in the review of delinquent loan files. As at the date hereof the members of the Credit Committee are 

Francis Bast (Chair) and Thomas Archibald. 

 

Audit Committee: 
 

The Corporation has established an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), which is comprised of three members 

chosen from amongst the members of the Board. The primary purpose of the Audit Committee is to assist the Board 

in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities with respect to (i) the quality and integrity of financial statements to be 

provided to shareholders and regulatory bodies; (ii) the effectiveness of our risk management and compliance 

practices; (iii) the independent auditor’s performance, qualifications and independence; and (iv) the performance of 

the internal audit function. The Audit Committee meets with the external auditors and management as required. 

 

As at the date hereof, the members of the Audit Committee are Tom Robinson (Chair), Wilson Olive, and Francis 

Bast.  All members of the Audit Committee are, for the purposes of National Instrument 52-110 – Audit Committees, 

considered to be independent and financially literate. 

  

KPMG LLP, 500 – 475 2
nd

 Ave. S Saskatoon, Saskatchewan are the Corporation's external auditors.  

 

 

 

 

Penalties, Sanctions and Bankruptcy 
 

(a)       There has been no penalty, sanction or cease trade order that has been in effect for a period of more 

than 30 consecutive days during the last 10 years against any: 

 

           (i)     director, executive officer or control person of the Corporation, or 

 

           (ii)    issuer of which a person referred to in (a)(i) above was a director, executive officer or 

control person at the time. 

 

(b)      There has been no declaration of bankruptcy, voluntary assignment in bankruptcy, proposal under 

any bankruptcy or insolvency legislation, proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors 

or appointment of a receiver, receiver manager or trustee to hold assets that has been in effect 

during the last 10 years with regard to any: 

 

(i)     director, executive officer or control person of the Corporation, or 

 

(ii)    issuer of which a person referred to in (b)(i) above was a director, executive officer or 

control  person at that time.  
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14. Capitalization 

 

Issued Capital 

 

 

Public Float: 

 

1,888,374 Class A shares issued and outstanding 

 

 

Designation  Shares held 

 

Related Person:      106,224 

(Directors) 

 

Employees:          1,500 

 

Holders of more  

than 5%:    0 

       

Total Public Float:      1,780,650 

 

Freely Tradeable Float: 1,888,374 

 

 

 

Public Security Holders (Registered) 

 

Size of holding Number of holders Total number of securities  

 

1,000 – 1,999  

 

2 

 

2,500 

 

5,000 or more 

 

2 

 

105,224 

 

 

 

Public Security Holders (Beneficial) 

 

 

Size of holding Number of holders Total number of securities  

 

1 -  499  

  

 

500 - 999  

  

 

1,000 - 1,999   

  

 

2,000 - 2,999  

  

 

3,000 - 3,999  

  

 

4,000 - 4,999  

  

 

5,000 or more 

  

 

Unable to Confirm 

 Report pending 
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Non-Public Security Holders (Registered)  

 

 

Size of holding Number of holders Total number of securities  

 

0 -  499 

 

  22 

 

   10,948 

 

500 - 999 

 

  48 

 

   39,381 

 

1,000 - 1,999 

 

  44 

 

   61,064 

 

2,000 - 2,999 

 

  22 

 

   53,004 

 

3,000 - 3,999 

 

    8 

 

   26,135 

 

4,000 - 4,999 

 

    5 

 

   22,360 

 

5,000 or  more 

 

  19 

 

 167,482 

 

15. Executive Compensation 

 

15.1 Statement of Executive Compensation  

 

 

Name and 

principal 

position 

 

 

 

Year 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Salary 

($) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Bonus 

($) 

 

 

(f) 

All other 

compensation 

($) 

 

Car Allowance  

 

Total 

compensation 

($) 

 

 

 

 

 

Quarterly 

Bonuses  

Year End 

Bonuses  

  

Brad Penno 

CEO 

2017 

(End Contract 

May 15/17) 

$48,589.00 N/A N/A N/A $48,589.00 

Brad Penno 

CEO 

2016 

(Effective 

August 22/16) 

$43,692.00 N/A N/A N/A $43,692.00 

Don 

Zealand 

CEO 

2016 

(Terminated 

June 6, 2016) 

 

$67,564.00 

 

$31,246.00 

 

$0.00 

 

$1,838.00 

 

$100,648.00 

Marlene 

Kaminsky 

CFO and 

Interim 

CEO 

2018 $120,000.00 N/A N/A N/A $120,000.00 

Marlene 

Kaminsky 
2017 $114,375.00 N/A N/A N/A $114,375.00 
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CFO / CFO 

and Interim 

CEO 

Marlene 

Kaminsky 

Acting CFO 

/ CFO 

2016 
 

$100,549.00 

 

N/A 

 

N/A 

 

N/A 

 

$100,549.00 

Thomson 

Jasper  

(Contracted 

Salary) 

2016 $154.00 N/A N/A N/A $154.00 

 

 

16. Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers 

 

16.1 Aggregate Indebtedness 

 

      Nil  

 

17.  Risk Factors 

 

17.1 Speculative Nature of the Shares  

 

The acquisition of Class A shares in the Corporation is speculative. This should be considered only by persons who 

are able to make a long term investment and are aware of the risk factors involved in such an investment. 

 

 

17.2    Risks Associated With Mortgage Loans 

 

Real estate investment contains elements of risk and is subject to uncertainties such as costs of operation and 

financing and fluctuating demand for developed real estate. In addition, readers should take note of the following: 

 

(a) Credit Risk: As with most mortgage investment corporations, the Corporation provides financings to borrowers 

who may not meet financing criteria for conventional mortgages from institutional sources and, as a result, these 

investments generally earn a higher rate of return than what institutional lenders may receive. Credit risk is 

inherent in the industry, however the Corporation carefully monitors its loan portfolio to ensure credit risk and 

concentrations of risk are minimized. The risk is managed by the Corporation's overall risk management 

framework, including monitoring credit exposures, obtaining appropriate security, conducting third party 

appraisals of the security obtained, and assessing the credit worthiness of counterparties, prior to committing to 

the investment. The Corporation's Credit Committee must review and approve, prior to funding, each residential 

loan over $500,000 (2017 - $500,000) and each commercial loan over $500,000 (2017 - $500,000). 

 

(b) Market Risk:  Investment in mortgages secured on real estate are subject to market valuation risks that may be 

caused by changing economic conditions and local market conditions. The Corporation obtains independent 

appraisals from professional appraisers to substantiate value at the time of funding each loan. While the 

Corporation believes that every effort is made by such appraisers to be accurate in their estimates of value, the 

values may not fully represent current market value. There may also be conditions to the valuation such as 

completion of development of the property that must still occur. There is also a risk that economic conditions or 

local market conditions will change and impact the value of mortgage loans held by the Corporation. The 

Corporation tries to partially offset these risks by limiting mortgage loan exposure on funding to 80% of the 

current or completed value of the mortgaged property depending on the purpose of the mortgage loan. 

 

(c) Liquidity Risk: All of the Corporation's financial liabilities, with the exception of shares which are classified as 

long-term, are classified as current and are anticipated to mature within the next fiscal period. The Corporation 
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intends to settle these with funds from its positive working capital position. The Corporation has a line of credit 

with Conexus Credit Union to hedge a portion or all of the liquidity risk. 

 

(d) Mortgage Insurance: The Corporation's mortgage loans will not usually be insured by CMHC or any other 

mortgage insurer in whole or in part. 

 

(e) Default: In case of default on a mortgage, it may be necessary for the Corporation, in order to protect the 

investment, to engage in foreclosure or sale proceedings and to make further outlays to complete an unfinished 

project or to maintain prior encumbrances in good standing. 

 

(f)   Impaired Loans: The Corporation currently has one or more impaired loans in its portfolio.  

 The Corporation defines loans as being impaired where full recovery is considered at risk. The Corporation 

reviews mortgages for impairment and will maintain an allowance as appropriate to reduce the carrying value 

of any mortgages identified as impaired to their estimated realizable amounts. Estimated realizable amounts are 

determined by reference to loan collection experience, the present value of expected future cash flows, or by 

the estimated net present value of security underlying the mortgages and deducting costs of realization. Refer 

to Note 5 of the attached Financial Statements (Appendix D).  

 

(g) Priority: Financial charges funded by first mortgage lenders may in some cases rank in priority to the mortgages 

registered in favour of the Corporation. In the event of default by the mortgagor under any prior financial 

charge, the Corporation may be required to arrange a new first mortgage or pay out same, in order to avoid 

adverse financial implications. 

 

17.3       Redemption Risk 

 

The mortgages held by the Corporation are contractual obligations and the ability of the Corporation to sell the 

mortgages or realize on the underlying security can take a lengthy period of time. As such, the Shares have limited 

redemption liquidity and are appropriate investments when considered as investment vehicles to be held for the 

longer term. 

 

In addition, although shareholders may tender their Shares for redemption pursuant to the terms and conditions 

contained in the Corporation's Articles, certain restrictions currently apply to such redemption. As such, the 

Corporation cannot guarantee that redemptions will be made on a timely basis. Further, as the redemption price to be 

paid in respect of any Shares are to be set out in the audited financial statements of the fiscal year end of the 

Corporation immediately prior to the applicable Redemption Period, the redemption share price will not be known 

until such financial statements are posted on SEDAR on or before March 31 of each year. 

 

17.4        Competition 

 

The Corporation is competing with many third parties, including mortgage brokers and financial institutions, 

seeking investment opportunities similar to those sought by the Corporation. There is no assurance that the number 

of mortgages required to maintain an optimal level of investment will be available and this could have an adverse 

effect on the ultimate return to the investor.  The yields on real estate investments, including mortgages, depend on 

many factors including economic conditions, the level of risk assumed, conditions in the real estate industry, 

opportunities for other types of investments, and tax laws. The Corporation cannot predict the effect which such 

factors will have on its operations. 

17.5  Marketability 

 

The shares currently trade on the CSE under the symbol PRI. 

 

 

17.6  Risks of Leverage 
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The Corporation is primarily a secured mortgage fund and the prior charges represent the use of leverage and 

exposes the investor to a higher risk than would a first mortgage loan. In the Corporation's opinion, the higher risk of 

a second mortgage is compensated for by the potential higher yields the investor can earn, though there is no 

guarantee that such higher yields will be realized. Leverage increases exposure to potential losses. 

 

17.7  Income Tax Designation 

 

As a mortgage investment corporation, the normal gross-up and dividend tax credit rules will not apply to 

dividends paid on the Shares. Rather, the dividends will be taxable in the hands of shareholders who are 

subject to tax as if they had received an interest payment. If for any reason the Corporation fails to maintain its 

designation as a mortgage investment corporation, the dividends paid by the Corporation on the Shares would cease 

to be deductible from the income of the Corporation. In addition, the Shares would cease to be qualified investments 

for trusts governed by RRSPs, deferred profit sharing plans and RRIFs with the effect that a penalty tax of 1% per 

month of the value of the Shares would be payable. 

 

17.8     Conflict of Interest 

 

The services of Brokers are not exclusive to the Corporation. The Brokers and their respective affiliates may, at any 

time, engage in promoting or managing any other corporation or its investments including those that may compete 

directly with the Corporation. 

 

Although none of the directors or officers of the Corporation, save and except the Chief Executive officer and the 

Chief Financial Officer, will devote all of his or her full time to the business and affairs of the Corporation, each will 

devote as much time as is necessary to supervise the management of, to manage or to advise on the business and 

affairs of the Corporation.  

 

17.9     Impact of Changes in Government Regulations 

 

If government legislation or regulation increases or changes this may impact the status, costs of doing business or 

otherwise impact the Corporation. If there are such changes that affect the Corporation in a material way, the 

Corporation will take such steps as available to it in order to mitigate the effects of such changes. 

 

17.10  Distributions Are Not Guaranteed 

 

Any distributions by the Corporation will depend on numerous factors, all of which are susceptible to a number of 

risks and other factors beyond the control of the Corporation. Accordingly, there can be no assurance or guarantee 

that the Corporation will make any distributions on the Shares, or as to the frequency or amount of such 

distributions. 

  

17.11 Inadequate Diversification of Mortgage Portfolio  

 

Although the Corporation will endeavour to maintain a diversified portfolio the majority of mortgages held by the 

Corporation will be geographically concentrated in the Province of Saskatchewan and therefore an adverse event 

affecting the Province of Saskatchewan mortgages could substantially effect the Corporation’s entire portfolio.  The 

Corporation’s investment portfolio may vary widely from time to time and may become concentrated in other ways 

resulting in the Corporation’s portfolio being less diversified than anticipated. 

17.12 Inability to fund Mortgage Investment 

 

The Corporation may commit to making future investments in anticipation of repayment of principal outstanding 

under existing investments.  In the event that such repayments of principal are not made in contravention of the 

borrowers’ obligations, the Corporation may be unable to advance some or all of the funds required to be advanced 

pursuant to the terms of its commitments and may be required to obtain interim financing, if possible, and to fund 

such commitments or face liability in connection with its failure to make such advances. 
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17.13 The Corporation may borrow additional funds to make Investments which may require assignment of some 

Mortgages 

The Corporation will be entitled to, and may, incur indebtedness secured by the Corporation’s assets to purchase 

mortgage investments.  There can be no assurance that such a strategy will enhance returns, and in fact, such 

strategy may reduce returns. 

The security which the Corporation is required to furnish when incurring indebtedness, to the extent permitted, may 

include an assignment of its mortgages to a third party lender.  If the Corporation is unable to service its debt to such 

lender, a loss could result if the lender exercises its rights of foreclosure or sale. 

17.14 Performance may be affected by environmental and other regulatory matters 

If deemed necessary by the Corporation, it will obtain an environmental evaluation of the property subject to the 

mortgage; however environmental legislation and policies have become increasingly important features of property 

ownership and management in recent years.  Under various laws, the Corporation could become liable for the costs 

of effecting remedial work necessitated by the release, deposit or presence of certain materials, including hazardous 

or toxic substances and wastes at or from a property, or disposed of at another location.  The failure to effect 

remedial work may adversely affect an owner’s ability to sell real estate or to borrow using the real estate as 

collateral and could result in claims against the owner. 

 

 

The Corporation follows policies and procedures to review and monitor environmental matters associated with its 

properties.  The Corporation’s environmental policy may require that an environmental assessment be conducted by 

an independent and experienced environmental consultant (the cost of which shall be borne by the borrower), before 

advancing a loan or acquiring a mortgage.  If a residential property is in proximity to a service or fuelling station, or 

to what is felt to be an environmentally sensitive area, such as a commercial business site, then, at the discretion of 

management, an environmental assessment is obtained. 

 

18. Promoters  

 

The Corporation does not engage any promoters. 

 

Securities sold through 2016 Subscription Agreements were sold through Sales Agents who received a commission 

of 5% on the sale of the Shares.   

 

PI Financial acted as the Lead Sales Agent with the 2016 Capital Raise.   

 

 

19. Legal Proceedings  

 

19.1 Actions instigated by the Corporation:  

 

(i) 9 Foreclosures in various stages of foreclosure process 

(ii) Statement of Claim filed against a Mortgage Broker for negligence and against an Appraiser for 

breach of contract and/or negligence with damages in the amount of $195,000. 

(iii) On October 16, 2017 the Corporation filed a Statement of Claim against Mr. Donald Zealand, 

former President and CEO of  PrimeWest.  The claim is for breach of corporate policy, gross 

negligence, and breach of fiduciary duty while acting as President and CEO.  Damages in 

excess of $3,000,000 are being claimed. 

Actions against the Corporation: 
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(i) Mr. Zealand denied all allegations made against him and pleaded in counter claim for damages 

for wrongful dismissal. 

(ii) On June 12, 2018 Randy Koroluk commenced a class action lawsuit against existing and past 

directors (since 2015) of the Corporation and others.  The legal action deals with oversight of the 

actions of Don Zealand, former CEO of the Corporation, and the collection and disposition of 

mortgages assets since the departure of the former CEO.   

(iii) On July 13, 2018 Debbie Gloria Burwash served a Statement of Claim against the Corporation 

and others.  The plaintiff is seeking rescission of its shares or damages in lieu of rescission. 

(iv) On July 13, 2018 Granite Enterprises Inc. served a Statement of Claim against the Corporation 

and others.  The plaintiff is seeking rescission of its shares or damages in lieu of rescission. 

 

19.2 Regulatory actions - None 

 

20. Interest of Management and Others in Material Transactions  

 

20.1 None 

 

 

 

 

 

21. Auditors, Transfer Agents and Registrars 

 

21.1 Transfer Agent, Registrar & Disbursing Agent Agreement  

         

Under a transfer agent, registrar & disbursing agent agreement dated November 1, 2009, Valiant Trust Corporation, 

Alberta became the registrar, transferring agent and disbursing agent for the Shares. Valiant Trust Corporation was 

acquired by Computer Share Trust Corporation of Canada. The offices of Computer Share Trust Corporation 

Canada 510 Burrand Street 2
nd

 Floor, Vancouver, B.C.  V6C 3B9.   

 

 

 

22. Material Contracts 

 

22.1 Transfer Agent and Registrar Agreement with Valiant Trust Corporation (now Computer Share Trust 

Corporation Canada) dated November 1, 2009.   

  

23. Interest of Experts 

 

 None 

 

 

24. Other Material Facts 

 

 None 

 

25. Financial Statements  

 

25.1  Financial Statements which have been filed at www.sedar.com: 

 

(a) December 31, 2018 
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25.2 For Issuers re-qualifying for listing following a fundamental change provide 

 

N/A  
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CERTIFICATE OF THE ISSUER 

The foregoing contains full, true and plain disclosure of all material information relating to PrimeWest Mortgage 

Investment Corporation.  It contains no untrue statement of a material fact and does not omit to state a material fact 

that is required to be stated or that is necessary to prevent a statement that is made from being false or misleading in 

light of the circumstances in which it was made. 

Dated at Saskatoon, SK 

This 26th  day of March, 2019. 

 

“Marlene Kaminsky”  “Tom Robinson” 

Marlene Kaminsky 

Chief Financial Officer and Interim CEO  

Tom Robinson 

Director 

   

“Francis Bast”  “Wil Olive” 

Francis Bast 

Director  

Wilson Olive 

Director 
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APPENDIX A: MINERAL PROJECTS 

 

N/A 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX B: OIL AND GAS PROJECTS 

 
 
 N/A 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



APPENDIX C 
 

Management Discussion and Analysis 

December 31, 2018 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 
 

 

 
 

 

  MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 

Year Ended December 31, 2018 
 



 

Page | 1  

 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

 
This Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) has been prepared by PrimeWest Mortgage Investment 
Corporation the ("Corporation", "PrimeWest", "we" or "our") as of March 26, 2019.  It should be read in 
conjunction with the Corporation’s audited financial statements and accompanying notes for the 12 months ended 
December 31, 2018.  The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and all financial information is presented in Canadian dollars. 
 

Notice Regarding Forward-Looking Information 

 
Certain information included in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis contains forward-looking statements 
within the meaning of applicable securities legislation, including statements with respect to management’s beliefs, 
estimates, and intentions, and similar statements concerning anticipated future events, results, circumstances, 
performance or expectations that are not historical facts.  All information contained in this MD&A, other than 
statements of current and historical fact, is forward-looking information.  Forward-looking statements generally 
can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology such as “outlook”, “objective”, “may”, “will”, “expect”, 
“intent”, “estimate”, “anticipate”, “believe”, “should”, “plans” or “continue” or similar expressions suggesting 
future outcomes or events.  Such forward-looking statements reflect management’s current beliefs and are based 
on information currently available to management. 
 
Forward-looking statements are subject to inherent risks and uncertainties.  These statements are not guarantees 
of future performance and are based on our estimates and assumptions that are subject to risks and uncertainties 
which could cause our actual results to differ materially from the forward-looking statements contained in this 
MD&A.  Those risks and uncertainties include, among other things, risks associated with mortgage lending, 
competition for mortgage lending, real estate values, interest rate fluctuations, environmental matters and the 
general economic environment.  We caution that the foregoing list is not exhaustive, as other factors could 
adversely affect our results, performance or achievements.  The reader is cautioned against undue reliance on any 
forward-looking statements.  Although the forward-looking information contained in this MD&A is based upon 
what management believes are reasonable assumptions, there can be no assurance that actual results will be 
consistent with these forward-looking statements.  Except as required by applicable law, we undertake no 
obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, 
future events or otherwise.    
 
 
Business Status and Overview 
 
PrimeWest Mortgage Investment Corporation was incorporated on March 22, 2005 pursuant to The Business 
Corporations Act (Saskatchewan).  The Corporation's head office is situated at 307 Jessop Ave., Saskatoon, 
Saskatchewan S7N 1Y5 and its registered office is located at 1000 - 2002 Victoria Avenue, Regina, Saskatchewan 
S4P 0R7. The Corporation has no subsidiaries.  The Corporation's fiscal year ("Fiscal Year") is the twelve-month 
period ending on December 31st of each year. 
 
PrimeWest Mortgage Investment Corporation is a reporting issuer under securities laws.  The Corporation's Class A 
shares ("Shares") trade on the Canadian Securities Exchange under the symbol PRI.   
 
PrimeWest commenced operations in October 2005 as a mortgage investment corporation ("MIC") for the 
purpose of the Income Tax Act (Canada) (the "Tax Act").  As a MIC, provided that certain criteria is met, PrimeWest 
is not subject to income tax provided that all taxable income is distributed to shareholders.  The distribution must 
be made within 90 days of our December 31

st
 year end.   
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Business Status and Overview (continued) 
 
As the Corporation holds a license to operate as a financing corporation under The Trust and Loan Corporations, 
Act 1997 (Saskatchewan) it has the right to conduct its own mortgage transactions. It is the practice of the 
Corporation to utilize brokers ("Brokers") registered pursuant to the provisions of The Mortgage Brokers Act 
(Saskatchewan), to seek out borrowers and submit mortgage applications to the Corporation.  See "Business with 
Brokers".  Due to the non-performing status of many of the Corporation’s mortgages and the current state of the 
Saskatchewan real estate market new mortgages are not actively being pursued. 

OPERATIONS 

 
PrimeWest continues to primarily operate in the Province of Saskatchewan with some mortgage holdings in 
Manitoba and Alberta.   The Corporation operates in a market where mortgage receivables continue to adjust as 
real estate prices decline due to the downturn in the economy.  
 
At year end the Corporation held nine mortgages in various stages of the foreclosure process.  Properties of four 
mortgages are currently listed for judicial sale while the property of one additional mortgage is expected to be 
listed for Judicial sale within the next three months.   
 
The Corporation continues to seek options to manage two large loans which exist within the mortgage portfolio.  
The Corporation is not in priority position and payments are in arrears.  The delay in realization of the mortgages 
coupled with the continuing soft market resulted in the Corporation increasing Loan Loss Provisions on these 
mortgages to the full extent of the loans in the prior year.  The Board and Management continue to take strides in 
an attempt to mitigate the losses of the Corporation and thereby improve the financial condition of the 
Corporation.   
 
All dividends and/or redemptions continue to be suspended.   
 
At December 31, 2018 the Corporation invested $4,124,730 in 21 (December 31, 2017– $5,719,891 in 27) 
mortgages bearing interest at fixed rates from 5.0% to 13.0% (2017 – 5.0% to 13.0%) with maturities ranging from 
January 2019 to November 2021, secured by real property to which they relate and by additional security in 
certain circumstances.   
 
In October 2017 the Corporation filed a Statement of Claim with the court of Queen’s Bench for Saskatchewan 
against Donald Zealand, the former President and Chief Executive Officer of PrimeWest.  PrimeWest’s claim against 
Mr. Zealand is for breach of corporate policy, gross negligence, and breach of fiduciary duty while acting as 
President and CEO.  Mr. Zealand denies all allegations made as against him and pleads counter claim for damages 
for wrongful dismissal.  PrimeWest solicitors have filed a defence to the counter claim and the action is 
progressing.    
 
In June 2018 Randy Koroluk commenced a class action lawsuit in the Court of Queen’s Bench for Saskatchewan 
against the existing and past directors (since 2015) of the Corporation and others.  The legal action deals with 
oversight of the actions of Don Zealand, former CEO of the Corporation, and the collection and disposition of 
mortgaged assets since the departure of the former CEO.  To the best of the Corporation’s knowledge, the legal 
action has not been served on all of the named defendants.  The court action cannot proceed until it has been 
certified as a class action by the Saskatchewan Court of Queen’s Bench.  A defence will be filed  denying all 
allegations. 
 
On July 13, 2018 the Corporation was served with two Statements of Claim, one commenced by Debbie Gloria 
Burwash and one commenced by Granite Enterprises Inc.  In each Statement of Claim, the plaintiffs seek rescission 
of its shares or damages in lieu of rescission for the capital raise conducted by the Corporation in May 2016.  
PrimeWest solicitors have prepared and filed a defence to the claims. 
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OPERATIONS (continued) 

 
Due to the inherent uncertainties, no accurate quantification of any cost, or timing of such cost which may arise 
from any of the legal proceedings outlined above can be made. 
 
A significant concentration of assets held pertain to one condo building in which the Corporation holds title to 13 
units.  In 2017 the Corporation acquired title to 16 condo units and began to market them.   While 3 units sold in 
2017, there were no additional sales in 2018.   New marketing strategies are showing increased interest in this 
property.  In addition a Forbearance Agreement was negotiated at the time of title transfer.  Payment on the 
Forbearance has not materialized and the Corporation must now go through the Judgement process to collect.  
Additional provisions have been accrued against the asset to reflect the uncertain timing of the collection. 
 
Management and the Board of Directors continue to reduce overhead costs.  The decrease in the estimated fair 
value of the loan portfolio, assets taken in settlement of debt and the reduced level of income generating assets 
may cast significant doubt on the Corporation’s ability to sustain operations for the upcoming year.  While the 
Corporation is using its best efforts to achieve its business plans by examining various financing alternatives and 
sales of assets taken in settlement of debt, in the current economic conditions it is difficult to predict the outcome 
of these plans.   
 
At 2018 year end financial results reflect a reduction in shareholders equity to $3.93 per share.   
 
 

YEAR END FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

    2018 2017 2016 

    December 31 December 31 December 31 

Total Revenue (*)    $683,773 $1,501,513 $2,632,784 

Total Comprehensive 
Loss 

 
  

($1,779,157) ($3,077,888) ($2,601,558) 

Total Comprehensive 
Loss per share 

 
  

($0.94) ($1.63) ($1.43) 

Total Assets    $9,260,093 $12,202,127 $17,848,686 

Total Liabilities    $1,839,437 $2,998,485 $5,567,156 

 
(*) Certain prior year’s comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to the current year’s presentation. 
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OPERATIONS (continued) 

QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

 Q4 2018 Q3 2018 Q2 2018 Q1 2018 Q4 2017 Q3 2017 Q2 2017 Q1 2017 

 December 31 September 30 June 30 March 31 December 31 September 30 June 30 March 31 

Total Revenue (*) $144,109 $179,158 $183,414 $177,092 $246,849 $336,557 $460,696 $457,411 

Total 
Comprehensive 
(Loss) Income 

($1,176,673) ($291,969) ($68,603) ($241,912) ($2,858,656) ($39,659) ($257,062) $77,489 

Total Assets $9,260,093 $11,652,437 $12,320,427 $12,709,467 $12,202,127 $15,589,230 $14,473,441 $16,707,632 

Total Liabilities $1,839,437 $3,051,279 $3,427,300 $3,747,737 $2,998,485 $3,526,932 $2,371,484 $4,348,613 

Shareholders’ 
Equity 

$7,420,656 $8,601,158 $8,893,127 $8,961,730 $9,203,642 $12,062,298 $12,101,957 $12,359,019 

Shares 
Outstanding 

1,888,374 1,890,729 1,890,729 1,890,729 1,890,729 1,890,729 1,890,729 1,890,729 

Shareholders’ 
Equity per share 

$3.93 $4.55 $4.70 $4.74 $4.87 $6.38 $6.40 $6.54 

Cash Dividends 
Declared 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Cash Dividends 
Declared per 
Class A Share 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

 
(*) Certain prior year’s comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to the current year’s presentation. 
 

INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES 

 
The principal investment objective of the Corporation is to provide shareholders income while preserving capital 
for distribution or reinvestment.  The Corporations objective is to derive its earnings principally from the receipt of 
mortgage interest payments, fees and of interest on the cash reserves of the Corporation. 
 
 
 
OPERATING RESTRICTIONS 
 
PrimeWest operates in accordance with the standard restrictions and practices imposed by Canadian securities 
legislation. These standard restrictions and practices have been designed in part to ensure that the Corporation's 
investments are diversified and relatively liquid, and to ensure the proper administration of the Corporation.  
 
PrimeWest’s investment practices are subject to certain operating, lending and other restrictions adopted by the 
Corporation’s board of directors. Under these restrictions, the Corporation may not: 
 
(i) make a mortgage loan if, immediately after the closing of the loan transaction, the amount so lent would 

be greater than 20% of the Corporation’s net assets, while the net assets are in excess of $2,000,000; 
(ii) guarantee securities or obligations of any person or Corporation;  
(iii) engage in securities lending; 
(iv) engage in derivative transactions for any purpose; 
 (v) develop, manage or acquire (except by foreclosure or other enforcement of its rights as mortgagee) any 

real property; 
(vi) enter into a forward commitment binding on the Corporation unless the Corporation has, at the time such 

commitment is made, sufficient cash or "near cash" securities to fund the loan to which the commitment 
relates; or 

 
 
 



 

Page | 5  

 

OPERATING RESTRICTIONS (continued) 
 
(vii) otherwise conduct its business in a manner that would cause the Corporation not to qualify as a MIC, that 

would result in the Common Shares not being a "qualified investment" for a trust governed by a 
registered retirement savings plan, registered retirement income fund, registered education savings plan 
or deferred profit sharing plan ("Registered Plans") or that would result in Common Shares being foreign 
property for the purpose of the Tax Act. 

 
Notwithstanding the irregular and unilateral actions of a former CEO, the Corporation strives at all times to 
observe the investment restrictions set forth in this paragraph. 
 
Any change to the fundamental investment objectives of the Corporation requires shareholder approval given at a 
meeting of the shareholders of the Corporation called to consider such change. 
 

INVESTMENT POLICIES 

The Corporation has adopted certain policies which establish the investment criteria for the Corporation’s 
investments, which are as follows: 
 
(i) the Corporation may only invest in commercial and residential mortgage loans secured against real 

property situated in Canada and primarily in Saskatchewan, Manitoba, and Alberta. 
(ii) the Corporation as a general practice maintains a portion of its total assets in cash or "near-cash" 

securities (such as units of money market funds) or an equivalent amount of funds available under the 
Corporation's line of credit financing in order to meet redemption requests and also to be in a position to 
redeem a prior mortgagee’s interest in a given property if a Broker considers that it would be 
advantageous for the Corporation to do so having regard to the market value of the property and the 
amount of mortgage debt due to the Corporation. The Board will monitor the cash and credit position of 
the Corporation on a regular basis in order to maintain its cash, near-cash and/or credit reserve positions 
at a necessary level; 

(iii) all bridge financing loans in which the Corporation invests will be secured by an interest against title to 
the real property that is the subject of the bridge financing loan and an irrevocable assignment of 
proceeds from the sale of such real property; 

 (iv) the Corporation may not make any loan or investment which does not meet the "Canadian content" 
requirements of paragraph 130.l(6)(c) of the Tax Act; 

(v) the Corporation may not make a loan which, together with all other mortgage loans that have priority 
over or rank pari passu with such loan, exceeds 95% of the fair market value of the mortgaged property, 
except when: 
(a) such mortgage is insured under the National Housing Act (Canada) or any similar legislation of a 

province, or 
(b) the excess over 90% is insured by an insurance company registered or licensed under the 

Insurance Companies Act (Canada) or similar legislation of a Canadian province or territory; 
(vi) the Corporation may not make a loan secured by a mortgage on a property in which: 

(a) any senior officer or director of the Corporation or of a Broker, or 
(b) any associate or affiliate of a person referred to in (a) above has an interest as mortgagor; 

(vii) the Corporation will not trade in mortgages in the secondary market although the Corporation retains the 
ability, in exceptional circumstances, to assign a mortgage to a third party; 

(viii) the Corporation may not hold a mortgage the initial term of which exceeds two years, but mortgages held 
by the Corporation may contain provisions permitting the mortgagor, when not in default, to renew the  
mortgage for one or more additional terms; 

(ix) generally, the Corporation’s mortgages will not secure debt incurred for the construction or development 
of real estate although the Corporation may from time to time engage, under strict guidelines, in bridge 
financing for such projects instead of holding idle cash; and 
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INVESTMENT POLICIES (continued) 

 
(x) traditional lenders will from time to time refer bridge financing opportunities to a Broker where the 

lender has provided a "take-out loan" (i.e. a commitment to make a loan secured by a first-ranking 
mortgage where such loan will be advanced upon completion of the construction of a building in order to 
repay a prior loan which financed such construction). The Corporation may provide bridge loan financing 
to clients of "take-out" lenders on a draw-down basis by means of higher interest loans for amounts equal 
to, in the aggregate, up to 95% of the appraised finished value of the property.  Real property and/or 
personal property security will be obtained by the Corporation when providing this type of financing. 

 
The Board may approve an amendment to the investment policies of the Corporation from time to time.  
 
If, due to a change in the provisions of the Tax Act or other legislation applicable to the Corporation, any of the 
foregoing investment policies and investment criteria required amendment in order to comply with such change in 
legislation, the Board may make such change and such change will be binding on the Corporation.   
 
The Corporation’s Credit Committee is comprised of at least two members chosen from amongst the members of 
the Board.  The primary purpose of the Credit Committee is to oversee lending guidelines and to provide oversight 
in the review of delinquent loan files. 

 

INVESTMENT CRITERIA 

 
The Corporation’s established investment criteria includes the following: 
 
(i) the Corporation will make investments so that it maintains its status as a MIC; 
(ii) loans will be secured by mortgages and/or other appropriate security interests in favour of the 

Corporation, either as sole mortgagee or co-mortgagee, and each mortgage will be duly registered as a 
charge against the real property which is the subject of the mortgage.  All investments made with respect 
to loan applications submitted by a Broker, will be reviewed and will have received a positive 
recommendation by such Broker; 

(iii) bridge financing loans will be secured by an irrevocable direction to pay such loans from the proceeds of a 
binding contract to sell real property and an irrevocable assignment of such proceeds in favour of the 
Corporation, either as sole assignee or co-assignee; 

(iv) loans will be made to borrowers who deal with the Corporation, the Brokers and their affiliates, 
shareholders, officers and directors at arm's length; 

(v) mortgages will be registered as a charge against real property, provided that the overall loan to appraised 
value ratio does not exceed 95% (including prior charges); 

(vi) prior to funding the loan, the Corporation will obtain current appraisals on all properties which secure the 
loan.  The appraisals will be completed by an accredited appraiser approved by the Corporation; 

(vii) the initial term of each loan will not exceed a term of 24 months; 
(viii) the Corporation will make loans primarily in the Province of Saskatchewan and may expand to other 

provinces and territories in Canada. While the Corporation will look, at least initially, primarily to 
Saskatchewan based mortgages for its investment opportunities, there are no restrictions on the amount 
of funds that may be invested by the Corporation in any particular Province or Territory of Canada; 

(ix) the Corporation may advance additional monies on a loan in order to protect the loan, notwithstanding 
that the additional advance of funds may increase the loan to value ratio over and above the parameters 
set out above. 
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OPERATING RESULTS FOR THE QUARTER AND YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018  
 
Total comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2018 was ($1,779,157) compared to the total 
comprehensive loss of ($3,077,888) for the year ended December 31, 2017.    
 
For the three months ended December 31, 2018 the total comprehensive loss was ($1,176,673).  The total 
comprehensive loss for the three months ended December 31, 2017 was ($2,858,656). 
 
At December 31, 2018 the Corporation had 21 mortgages outstanding with an average balance of $196,415.  This 
was down by 6 mortgages from December 31, 2017 at which time the average mortgage balance was $211,848.  
The change in the number of mortgages included 1 new mortgage being funded, 5 mortgages being paid out and 2 
mortgages paying out through the judicial sale process. 
 
The increased loss was a result of additional provisions accrued against the assets taken in settlement of debt as 
well as provisions accrued for mortgage losses.  The real estate market continues to be soft resulting in increased 
days on market, increased carrying costs and reductions to selling prices.  Additional provisions are being accrued 
against the assets taken in settlement of debt to reflect the current real estate market and the length of time 
which may be required to sell the assets.  Legal costs related to foreclosure proceedings exceeded $102,000 for the 
year ended December 31, 2018 compared to in excess of $186,000 for the year ended December 31, 2017. 
 
 
Revenue 
 
Mortgage revenue for the three months ended December 31, 2018 was $144,109.  This represents a decrease 
from the $246,849 generated in the three months ended December 31, 2017.  The 2018 mortgage revenue was 
$683,773 compared to the 2017 mortgage revenue of $1,501,513.   
 
Revenue reduction is a result of the decrease in the number of mortgages currently held.  At December 31, 2018 
the Corporation had 21 mortgages outstanding while at December 31, 2017 the Corporation had 27 mortgages 
outstanding.   
 
Expenses 
 
Interest expense for the three months ended December 31, 2018 was $39,736 compared to $45,722 for the three 
months ended December 31, 2017.  The 2018 year-to-date interest expense was $185,030 compared to the 2017 
year-to-date interest expense of $237,597.  2018 saw a reduction in the utilization of the operating line as property 
sales occurred and mortgages paid out. 
 
Office and administration expense for the three months ended December 31, 2018 was $12,006 compared to the 
three months ended December 31, 2017 of $17,223.  Office and administration expense for the year ended 
December 31, 2018 was $66,705 compared to the year ended December 31, 2017 of $63,084.   A portion of the 
2018 increased expense was a result of office relocation costs to a smaller location.  Rent for the three months 
ended December 31, 2018 was $4,410 compared to the three months ended December 31, 2017 of $9,212.  Rent 
for the year ended December 31, 2018 was $26,012 compared to $40,104 for the year ended December 31, 2017. 
 
Contracted services expense for the three months ended December 31, 2018 was $4,151 compared to $5,507 for 
the three months ended December 31, 2017.  The contracted services expense was $16,876 for the year ended 
December 31, 2018 compared to $22,364 for the year ended December 31, 2017.  
 
Insurance expense for the three months ended December 31, 2018 was $6,067 compared to $3,880 for the three 
months ended December 31, 2017.  The insurance expense for the year ended December 31, 2018 was $26,232 
compared to $16,285 for the year ended December 31, 2017.  The increase in 2018 was a result of premium 
increases to both the Director’s error and omission insurance as well as the Blanket Property liability insurance.    
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OPERATING RESULTS FOR THE QUARTER AND YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 (continued) 
 
Professional fees for the three months ended December 31, 2018 were $10,294 compared to fees of $20,160 for 
the three months ended December 31, 2017.  The professional fees for the year ended December 31, 2018 were 
$157,889 compared to fees of $138,268 for the year ended December 31, 2018.  Increased legal fees relate to fees 
paid with respect to litigation against the past President and CEO, and the defence of legal claims initiated by 
shareholders.   The Corporation paid defence costs up to the deductible of $25,000 under the Directors & Officers 
Insurance policy.  An additional $19,900 in defence costs were paid by the Corporation’s Insurance Provider.  All 
future defence costs up to limits in accordance with the policy will be paid by the Insurance Provider. 
 
Wages and benefits expense was $44,953 for the three months ended December 31, 2018 compared to $50,685 
for the three months ended December 31, 2017.  The wages and benefits expense for the year ended December 
31, 2018 was $200,630 compared to $244,868 for the year ended December 31, 2017.  The decrease was due to a 
reduction in staff and a realignment of responsibilities.   
 
A resolution was passed by the Board of Directors to reduce Directors Fees by 25% commencing January 2019.    
 

INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO  

The Corporation’s portfolio of mortgage investments is made up of investments in Residential and Commercial 
properties.  The majority of the investments are in Saskatchewan.   

The following tables illustrate the Corporation’s portfolio of mortgage investments allocated by Security Position, 
Region and Interest Rate before the allowance for mortgage losses of $7,970,557 (2017 - $7,643,837): 

 

i)   Security Position by Number of Mortgages 

 

                     December 31, 2018                                 December 31, 2017 

 No. of Mortgages No. of Mortgages 

Residential - First 
Mortgages 

7 14 

Residential - Non-First 
mortgages 

7 5 

Commercial - First 
Mortgages 

5 6 

Commercial – Non-First 
Mortgages 

2 2 

Total Number of 
Mortgages 

21 27 
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INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO (continued) 

 

ii)   Security Position by % of Mortgage Investments ($) 

 

                    December 31, 2018                     December 31, 2017 

 
% of Mortgage 

Investments ($) 
% of Mortgage 

Investments ($) 

Residential - First 
Mortgages 

18.0% 31.5% 

Residential - Non-First 
mortgages 

3.1% 1.2% 

Commercial - First 
Mortgages 

44.9% 39.5% 

Commercial – Non-First 
Mortgages 

34.0% 27.8% 

Total 100.0% 100.0% 

   

   

iii) Region 

                          December 31, 2018                   December 31, 2017 

 
 % of Mortgage 

Investments ($) 
% of Mortgage 

Investments ($) 

Saskatchewan  81.4% 84.7% 

Alberta  18.1% 14.9% 

Manitoba         .5%         .4% 

Total    100.0% 100.0% 
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INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO (continued)    

iv) Interest Rate  

  
 
Distribution of mortgages: 

      December 31  December 31 
      2018  2017 

 

 Effective 
interest 

rates 

 Number of 
mortgages 

Amortized 
cost and 

fair value 

Number of 
mortgages 

Amortized 
cost and fair 

value 
  4 – 5%  1 74,295 1 75,753 

  8 – 9%  1 12,323 3 137,680 
  9 – 10%  10 7,430,191 11 7,393,170 

  10 – 11%  3 3,483,829 3 3,355,392 
  11 – 12%  1 153,979 1 154,653 
  12 – 13%  5 921,827 8 2,218,310 

        

Sub Total    21 12,076,444 27 13,334,958 

Add:  Accrued interest receivable   18,843  28,770 

Less:  Allowance for  mortgage losses   (7,970,557)  (7,643,837) 

Total    21 4,124,730 27 5,719,891 

 

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT  

The Corporation seeks to facilitate the management of its capital requirements by preparing annual expenditure 
budgets that are updated as necessary and approved by the Board of Directors. The Company may occasionally 
need to increase these levels to facilitate acquisition or expansion activities, however there are no established 
quantitative returns on capital requirements for management. The Company considers the capital structure to 
consist of debt and shareholders' equity. The Company considers debt to include bank indebtedness, demand 
loans and due to related parties.  

 

 

March 31, 
2017 

December 31, 
2018 

 

 March 31, 
2017 

December 31, 
2017 

 

 

     
     
Demand loan 1,753,546  2,907,037  
Other liabilities 85,891  91,448  

Total debt 1,839,437  2,998,485  

     
Shareholders' equity 7,420,656  9,203,642  

Total capitalization 9,260,093  12,202,127  
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CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (continued)   

 
 December 31, December 31,   
 2018 2017   

     
Total Assets $9,260,093 $12,202,127   
Total Debt $1,839,437 $2,998,485      
Shareholders’ Equity $7,420,656 $9,203,642   
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity $9,260,093 $12,202,127   
Debt to total capitalization (%) 19.9% 24.6%   
     

The Corporation manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic 
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets.  In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, 
the Corporation may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, purchase shares for cancellation 
pursuant to normal course issuer bids, issue new shares, issue new debt, and issue new debt to replace existing 
debt. 

 

DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTIONS 

 
The Board of Directors suspended all dividends and/or redemptions until further notice.  

 

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 

 
Management reviews the mortgage portfolio continuously with the best information available at the time.  An 
allowance for mortgage loan losses is established consisting of expected credit losses on defaulted mortgages that, 
in management's judgment, is adequate to absorb all credit related losses in the portfolio.  Expected credit losses 
include all of the accumulated provisions for losses on particular assets required to reduce the related assets to 
estimated realizable value.   The Corporation regularly establishes provisions for each mortgage receivable, if 
applicable. 
 
Management reviews each individual property mortgage on a monthly basis to determine shifting risks due to both 
changing specific client circumstances as well as general overall market conditions.  The latter may include more 
specific situations relative to changes in business and industry. 
 
Adjustments to accrued interest for each mortgage security asset are calculated on the daily balance of each 
mortgage asset to reflect accurate oversight and provisioning by Management and the Board.  This method of 
provisioning ensures interest revenues on specific mortgages at risk of default are provisioned in a very timely 
manner and eliminates unnecessary swings in provision adjustments thereby allowing more consistent reporting of 
revenue and potential losses. 
 
The length of time required to realize on a security increases the allowances required. 
 
Capital and interest provisions are reported in quarterly company financial information reported both on SEDAR 
and the company web-site as required by Security Regulations. 
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES (continued) 

 
The Company's operating cash requirements are continuously monitored by Management and the Board of 
Directors. As factors impacting cash requirements change, liquidity risks may necessitate the need for the 
Company to raise capital by issuing equity or obtaining additional debt financing. In addition, the mortgage 
receivables have short maturity terms (3 – 24 months) which provide additional liquidity in the event of an 
unforeseen interruption of cash flow.  The Company can convert the mortgages, if needed, to cash instead of 
renewing for another term or lending under a new mortgage. 
 
The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities based on contractual 
undiscounted payments. 
 
  

On demand 
 

 
Less than 3 

months 

 
3 to 12 

months 

 
Over 1 year 

 
Total 

As at December 31, 2018      
Demand loan 1,753,546 - - - 1,753,546 
Other liabilities - 85,891 - - 85,891 

 1,753,546 85,891 - - 1,839,437 

 
 

 
On demand 

 
Less than 3 

months 

 
3 to 12 

months 

 
Over 1 year 

 
Total 

As at December 31, 2017      
Demand loan 2,907,037 - - - 2,907,037 
Other liabilities - 91,448 - - 91,448 

 2,907,037 91,448 - - 2,998,485 

 
 
The Company manages liquidity risk on a net asset and liability basis. The following tables explain the contractual 
maturities of financial assets held for the purpose of managing liquidity risk.  While best efforts are made to collect 
on mortgages due, payouts of mortgages receivable may not occur on the maturity dates. 
 
  

On demand 
 

Less than 3 
months 

 
3 to 12 

months 

 
Over 1 year 

 
Total 

As at December 31, 2018      
Cash and cash equivalents 48,400 - - - 48,400 
Mortgages receivable - 3,942,710 161,480 20,540 4,124,730 
Other assets 48,643 - - - 48,643 

 97,043 3,942,710 161,480 20,540 4,221,773 

 
 
 
 

 
On demand 

 
Less than 3 

months 

 
3 to 12 

months 

 
Over 1 year  

 
Total 

As at December 31, 2017      
Cash and cash equivalents 50,431 - - - 50,431 
Mortgages receivable - 5,248,915 445,948 25,028 5,719,891 
Other assets 54,090 - - - 54,090 

 104,521 5,248,915 445,948 25,028 5,824,412 

 
For additional disclosure see Note 13 of the audited financial statements for the year ending December 31, 2018. 
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OFF-BALANCE SHEET TRANSACTIONS 
 
The Corporation’s business constitutes of advancing funds secured by real estate mortgage and the administration 
and collection of principle and interest under these mortgages. The Corporation does not have any off-balance 
sheet transactions with the exception of the lease agreement for its premises which expires May 31, 2019.   
 
 
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
The Corporation is managed by the Interim Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer and the 
administration of business activities is handled by employees. The Board of Directors oversee and provide 
direction to management (See Note 11 of the audited financial statements for the year ending December 31, 
2018). 
  
 
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
The financial instruments involve the Corporation’s credit facility and the mortgages receivable.  
 
The authorized limit of the credit facility is the lesser of the margin calculation and $7,500,000. (December 31, 
2017 - $7,500,000).  It bears interest at the rate of prime interest plus 2.0% (December 31, 2017 – prime plus 
1.5%). The credit facility is secured by a general security agreement over the assets of the Corporation.   
 
As at December 31, 2018, the maximum margin available was $4,434,500 of which $1,753,546 was utilized.   
 
The annual review of the credit agreement completed in June 2018 reflected an increase to the interest rate to 
prime plus 2.0% from prime plus 1.5%. 
 
 
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 
 
The Company adopted IFRS 9 Financial Instruments issued in July 2014 effective January 1, 2018.  The 
requirements of IFRS 9 represent a significant change from IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement. The adoption of IFRS 9 has resulted in changes in accounting policies related to the classification, 
measurement and impairment of financial assets, which are primarily comprised of mortgages.  There are no 
significant changes in accounting policies for financial liabilities, derivative instruments and derecognition of 
financial assets and liabilities. Changes in presentation and disclosures are reflected in the audited financial 
statements for the year ending December 31, 2018.   
 
Due primarily to the staging of the Company’s mortgage portfolio, there were no remeasurement adjustments 
arising from the adoption of IFRS 9.  The adoption of IFRS 9 had no material impact on the results of operations in 
the current year. 
 
This change in accounting policy was adopted retrospectively, with no restatement of comparatives.   
 
Impairment 

The Company recognizes expected credit losses (ECL) at an amount equal to 12 month ECL, if the credit risk on a 
mortgage at the reporting date has not increased significantly since initial recognition (Stage 1). A lifetime ECL is 
recorded on performing mortgages which are considered to have experienced a significant increase in credit risk 
(Stage 2) and on credit impaired financial assets (Stage 3).  
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (continued) 
The main factors considered in determining a significant increase in credit risk include relative changes in 
probability of default since origination and certain other criteria such loan delinquency. 

Evidence of a significant increase in credit risk include factors such as: 

• significant financial difficulty of the borrower;  

• default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;  

• high probability of the borrower entering a phase of bankruptcy or a financial reorganization;  

• measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from the loan or the underlying assets that back 
 the mortgage. 

Mortgages overdue for 30 days are considered Stage 2 mortgages and those overdue by 90 days are considered 
impaired (Stage 3). 

Credit loss calculations are outputs of models with a number of underlying assumptions regarding the choice of 
variable inputs and their interdependencies. The expected credit loss impairment model reflects the present value 
of all cash shortfalls related to default events over the expected life of a financial instrument.  

The probability of default (“PD”), exposure at default (“EAD”), and loss given default (“LGD”) inputs used to 
estimate expected credit losses are modelled based on macroeconomic variables that are most closely related with 
credit losses in the relevant portfolio.  The measurement of expected credit losses considers information about 
past events and current conditions as well as reasonable and supportable forecasts of future events and economic 
conditions. The estimation and application of forward-looking information requires significant judgement. 

Prior to January 1, 2018, the Company assessed at each reporting date whether there was any objective evidence 
that a mortgage receivable was impaired.   Specific allowances were recorded on a mortgage-by-mortgage basis if 
management determined that a mortgage receivable was impaired.  In such cases, a specific provision was 
established to write down the loan to the estimated future net cash flows from the loan discounted at the loans’ 
original effective interest rate. In cases where it was impractical to estimate the future cash flows, the carrying 
amount of the loan was reduced to its fair value calculated based on an observable market price. Specific 
allowances included consideration of the credit worthiness of individual borrowers and the value of the collateral 
underlying the loan. 

For mortgages not subject to a specific allowance assessment, mortgages were then assessed collectively to 
determine whether provision should be made due to incurred loss events for which there is objective evidence but 
whose effects are not yet evident. The collective provision took account of data from the loan portfolio and based 
on analysis of historical data, such as credit quality, levels of arrears, historical performance and economic outlook.  
Collective allowances also considered current economic conditions. 

At December 31, 2018 the Corporation had expected credit losses of $7,970,557 compared with an allowance for 
credit losses of $7,643,837 at December 31, 2017.   Approximately 83% of the expected credit losses at December 
31, 2018 can be attributed to 3 Commercial mortgages representing $6,607,496 in losses. 

 
Presentation of Allowance for ECL 
 
Mortgages receivable are presented on a net basis, where the loss allowances for ECL are deducted from the gross 
carrying amount of the assets (See Note 6 of the audited financial statements for the year ending December 31, 
2018). 
 
 
Write-offs 
 
Mortgages are written off when there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the 
Company determines that the borrower does not have assets or a source of income that could generate sufficient 
cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. However, financial assets that are written off could still 
be subject to enforcement activities.  
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MANAGEMENT/CONTROL/PROCEDURES  
 
Management is responsible for the information contained within this MD&A and to ensure that both the internal 
and external information that is disclosed by the Corporation is correct and materially complete. 
 
The Board of Directors provide an oversight role, and the Audit Committee assists in the provision and review of 
financial information contained with the MD&A and the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 
2018. 
 
The Corporation has internal controls respecting its financial reporting which are adhered to in order to ensure 
reliable financial reporting and that the financial statements prepared for external purposes are in accordance with 
IFRS.  
 

MARKET OUTLOOK & CORPORATE RISKS 

 
The following comments are qualified in their entirety by the Notice Regarding Forward-Looking Information at the 
beginning of this MD & A. 
 
The market for residential and commercial mortgages continues to be in Saskatchewan with one outstanding 
mortgage in Alberta and one in Manitoba. With a slowdown in the economy Investors in the Corporation may have 
concerns relative to the real estate market in general and the potential impact on companies in this industry 
affecting their ability to generate profit for their investors.  
 
The Corporation follows strategies to limit market risks due to changes in the overall economy and or specific 
sectors of the economy which may impact our business model and our resulting mortgage portfolio.  
Risks as a mortgage lender in the Saskatchewan market, include volatility in the real estate property market, which 
could be driven by changes in the resource industry.  
 
Additional risks do exist which are typical for all business operations conducted in the mortgage lending business 
generally. These risks include Government legislative changes, National Interest Rate environment, mortgage 
backed security loans, competition activities, potential environmental issues mainly with commercial loans, 
borrower solvency, and other factors as outlined in previous sections of our information document. 
 
 

CAPITALIZATION 
 

The Corporation has 1,888,374 Issued and Outstanding Class A Common Shares (See Note 9 of the audited 
financial statements for the year ending December 31, 2018.) 
 

 
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
Prime West Mortgage Investment Corporation, as a reporting issuer, files all material documents and information 
on Sedar. This additional information may be viewed at www.sedar.com, on the Canadian Securities Exchange at 
www.thecse.com under the symbol PRI and on our website at www.primewest.ca. 

http://www.sedar.com/
http://www.thecse.com/
http://www.primewest.ca/
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

To the Shareholders of PrimeWest Mortgage Investment Corporation 

Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of PrimeWest Mortgage Investment Corporation (the Entity), 
which comprise: 

• the statements of financial position as at December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017 

• the statements comprehensive loss for the years then ended 

• the statements of changes in shareholders’ equity for the years then ended 

• the statements of cash flows for the years then ended 

• and notes to the  financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies 

(Hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Entity as at December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, and its financial performance 
and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS). 

Basis for Opinion  
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditors’ Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our auditors’ report.   

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our 
audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion.     

KPMG LLP
500-475 2nd Avenue South
Saskatoon Saskatchewan S7K 1P4
Canada
Tel (306) 934-6200
Fax (306) 934-6233

KPMG LLP is a Canadian limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member
firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative ("KPMG International"), a Swiss entity. KPMG Canada provides
services to KPMG LLP.



Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern 
We draw attention to Note 1 in the financial statements, which indicates that Entity incurred net losses 
of $1,779,157 during the year ended December 31, 2018 and, as of that date, had a deficit of 
$8,256,879. 

As stated in Note 1 in the financial statements, these events or conditions, along with other matters as 
set forth in Note 1 in the financial statements, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast 
significant doubt on the Entity's ability to continue as a going concern.  

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.  

Other Information 
Management is responsible for the other information. Other information comprises the information 
included in Management’s Discussion and Analysis filed with the relevant Canadian Securities 
Commissions. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit and remain alert for indications that the 
other information appears to be materially misstated.   

We obtained the information included in Management’s Discussion and Analysis filed with the relevant 
Canadian Securities Commissions as at the date of this auditors’ report.   If, based on the work we have 
performed on this other information, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact in the auditors’ report. 

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance 
for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Entity’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity’s financial reporting process. 



Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that 
includes our opinion.  

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists.  

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.  

We also: 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Entity's internal control.  

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Entity's ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report 
to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to continue as a going 
concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 



• Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit.  

• Provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards. 

 
Chartered Professional Accountant 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this auditors’ report is Scott Douglas Verity.  

Saskatoon, Canada 

March 26, 2019 
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  Notes    December 31,  

2018 
$ 

 December 31, 
2017 

$ 

     
ASSETS     
     
Cash and cash equivalents   48,400 50,431 
Mortgages receivable  6 4,124,730 5,719,891 
Assets taken in settlement of debt  7 5,038,320 6,377,715 
Other assets   48,643 54,090 

Total Assets   9,260,093 12,202,127 

     
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY     
Liabilities     
Demand loan  8 1,753,546 2,907,037 
Other liabilities   85,891 91,448 

   1,839,437 2,998,485 
Shareholders’ Equity     
Shareholders’ capital  9 15,677,535 15,681,364 
Accumulated deficit   (8,256,879) (6,477,722) 

   7,420,656 9,203,642 

Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity   9,260,093 12,202,127 

     
Shares outstanding  9 1,888,374 1,890,729  
     
Commitments and contingent liabilities  14   
Going concern  1   
     
 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Financial Statements.  

 

 

“Tom Robinson”      “Wil Olive” 

   ________________________                     _  ______________________ _                      

Director Director 
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   For the years ended 
    

  
December 31, 

2018 
December 31, 

2017 
 Notes $ $ 
    
Interest income    
Mortgage interest  607,394 1,333,437 
Fees  76,379 168,076 

  683,773 1,501,513 

    
Interest expense  185,030 237,597 

Net interest income  498,743 1,263,916 
   
Less:    
Provision for mortgage losses 6 277,086 2,733,317 
Loss on assets taken in settlement of debt 7 1,425,563 994,913 

Net interest loss after provision for losses  (1,203,906) (2,464,314) 

   
Non-interest expenses   
Advertising and promotion  2,016 324 
Contracted services  16,876 22,364 
Depreciation of property and equipment  891 977 
Directors’ fees                    11 78,000 87,300 
Insurance  26,232 16,285 
Office and administration  66,705 63,084 
Professional fees  157,889 138,268 
Rent  26,012 40,104 
Wages and benefits  200,630 244,868 

  575,251 613,574 

Total comprehensive loss for the year   (1,779,157) (3,077,888) 

   
Loss per share   
Basic and diluted   10 ($.94) ($1.63) 
   
   

 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Financial Statements. 
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Shareholders’ 
capital 

 
 

(Accumulated 
losses) 

 
 

Total equity 
 Notes $ $ $ 

     
As at January 1, 2017    15,681,364 (3,399,834) 12,281,530 
Total comprehensive loss for the year   - (3,077,888) (3,077,888) 

As at December 31, 2017    15,681,364 (6,477,722) 9,203,642 

          
As at January 1, 2018  15,681,364 (6,477,722) 9,203,642 
Share redemption  (3,829) - (3,829) 
Total comprehensive loss for the year  - (1,779,157) (1,779,157) 

As at December 31, 2018  15,677,535 (8,256,879) 7,420,656 

     
 
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Financial Statements. 
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  For the years ended  
    
 Notes December 31, 

2018 
December 31, 

2017 
  $ $ 

Operating activities    
Total comprehensive loss for the year  (1,779,157) (3,077,888) 
Adjustments to reconcile loss from operations to net cash flows:    

Interest income  (683,773) (1,501,513) 
Interest expense  185,030 237,597 
Provision for mortgage losses 6 277,086 2,733,317 
Loss on assets taken in settlement of debt 7 1,425,563 994,913 
Depreciation of property and equipment  891 977 
Interest received  460,201 1,070,063 
Interest paid  (185,030) (237,597) 
 Proceeds from disposal of assets taken in settlement of debt  30,000 2,802,768 
 Costs incurred to sell asset taken in settlement of debt  (116,168) (392,052) 

Change in operating assets and liabilities:    
       Mortgages receivable  1,541,647 (54,186) 
       Other assets  4,556 (9,732) 
       Other liabilities  (5,557) (151,080) 
Net cash flows from operating activities  1,155,289 2,415,587 
    
    
Financing activities    
Repayments of related party loans 11 - (1,003,507) 
Redemption of share capital 9 (3,829) - 
Repayment of demand loan  (1,153,491) (1,414,084) 

Net cash flows used in financing activities  (1,157,320) (2,417,591) 

    
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (2,031) (2,004) 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year  50,431 52,435 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year  48,400 50,431 

    
    
    
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Financial Statements. 
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1 Nature of Operations and Going Concern 
 
PrimeWest Mortgage Investment Corporation (the “Company”) was incorporated under The Saskatchewan Business 
Corporations Act on March 22, 2005 and commenced operations in October 2005, as a Mortgage Investment 
Corporation (MIC).  
 
The Company provided lending on security of mortgages on real properties situated in the Provinces of Saskatchewan, 
Manitoba and Alberta. The mortgages transacted by the Company do not generally meet the underwriting criteria of 
conventional lenders. As a result the investments are subject to greater risk and accordingly earn a higher rate of 
interest than is generally available through conventional mortgage lending activities.  Events in 2016 led to 
significant changes in the operations of the Company and various legal actions as described in Note 14. 
 
The Company is a reporting issuer under securities laws trading on the Canadian Securities Exchange under the 
symbol PRI.   
 
The Company’s head office is located at 307 Jessop Ave., Saskatoon, Saskatchewan S7N 1Y5 and its registered office is 
located at 1000 – 2002 Victoria Avenue, Regina, Saskatchewan S4P 0R7.   
 
These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which assumes that the Company will be 
able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business for the foreseeable future.    
During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company incurred a net loss of $1,779,157 (2017 - $3,077,888) and 
has an accumulated deficit of $8,256,879.  The decrease in the estimated fair value of the mortgage receivable 
portfolio, assets taken in settlement of debt and the reduced level of income generating assets casts significant doubt 
on the Company’s ability to sustain operations. While the Company is using its best efforts to realize the value of its 
assets, in the current economic conditions it is difficult to predict the outcome of these efforts.  All of these factors 
indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that casts significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern.  These financial statements do not include adjustments to the measurement of recorded assets and 
liabilities and related expenses that might be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern 
and therefore be required to realize its assets and liquidate its liabilities in other than the normal course of business at 
amounts different from those in the accompanying financial statements. 
 

2 Statement of Compliance and Basis of Presentation 

 
These Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2018 represent the Company’s annual Financial 
Statements prepared in accordance with International Accounting Standard (“IFRS”), and interpretations as issued by 
the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). 
 
These Financial Statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. 
 
The financial statements have been prepared on the historic cost basis, except for cash and cash equivalents and 
assets taken in settlement of debt, which are measured at fair value on each reporting date.  
 
The Financial Statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2018 were authorized for issue in 
accordance with a resolution of the directors on March 22, 2019. 
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3 Significant Accounting Judgements, Estimates and Assumptions 

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgments, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities at the date 
of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Estimates 
and judgments are continuously evaluated and are based on management’s experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. However, actual outcomes 
can differ from these estimates.  

 
The key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of causing material adjustment to the amounts 
recognized in the Financial Statements are: 
 
Expected credit losses on mortgages 
The Company assesses the impairment and extent of losses on mortgages at each reporting date. Judgment by 
management is required in assessing when there has been a significant increase in credit risk (Stage 2) or when a 
mortgage is impaired (Stage 3).  Estimates are required of the amount and timing of future cash flows when 
determining credit losses.  

 
In estimating expected cash flows, the Company makes judgments about the borrower’s financial situation and the 
net realizable value of collateral. These estimates are based on assumptions about a number of factors and actual 
results may differ, resulting in future changes to the allowance. 
 
Key assumptions in determining expected credit losses are disclosed in note 5(B). 

 

Assets taken in settlement of debt 

Assets taken in settlement of debt are properties acquired by the Company that were originally pledged as security on 

mortgages.  These assets are intended for resale and are carried at fair value as disclosed in note in note 5(D).  

Estimates of the fair value of these assets are determined by inspecting the property, obtaining appraisals and 

speaking with realtors in the area.   

 

4 Changes in Accounting Policies  

A) IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 

The Company adopted IFRS 9 Financial Instruments issued in July 2014 effective January 1, 2018.  The 
requirements of IFRS 9 represent a significant change from IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement. The adoption of IFRS 9 has resulted in changes in accounting policies related to the classification, 
measurement and impairment of financial assets, which are primarily comprised of mortgages.  There are no 
significant changes in accounting policies for financial liabilities, derivative instruments and derecognition of 
financial assets and liabilities. Changes in presentation and disclosures are reflected in these financial statements.  
The details of the Company’s accounting policies arising from the adoption of IFRS 9 are described in note 5(B) 
 
This change in accounting policy was adopted retrospectively, with no restatement of comparatives.   
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4 Changes in Accounting Policies (continued) 

 
Classification of Financial Instruments on date of initial application of IFRS 9, January 1, 2018: 
 

 Original 
Classification under 

IAS 39 

New Classification 
under IFRS 9 

Original Carrying 
Amount under     

IAS 39 

New Carrying 
Amount under    

IFRS 9 

Cash and cash 
equivalents 

Loans and 
receivables 

Amortized cost 50,431 50,431 

Mortgages 
receivable 

Loans and 
receivables 

Amortized cost 5,719,891 5,719,891 

Other assets Loans and 
receivables 

Amortized cost 54,090 54,090 

Demand loan Amortized cost Amortized cost 2,907,037 2,907,037 

Other liabilities Amortized cost Amortized cost 91,448 91,448 

 
Due primarily to the staging of the Company’s mortgage portfolio, there were no remeasurement adjustments 
arising from the adoption of IFRS 9.  The adoption of IFRS 9 had no material impact on the results of operations in 
the current year. 
 

B) IFRS 15 Revenue Recognition 

In 2018, the Company adopted IFRS 15 which establishes the principles for reporting the nature, amount, timing, 
and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with customers. The standard provides a single, 
principles based 5 step model for revenue recognition to be applied to contracts with customers except for 
revenue arising from items such as financial instruments and leases. Due to its current operations, the Company 
has not been impacted by this new standard. 
 

C) Future Accounting Pronouncement 

The Company has reviewed new and revised accounting pronouncements that have been issued but are not yet 
effective and determined that the following may have an impact on the Company.  

IFRS 16 Leases  

IFRS 16, Leases sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases 
for both parties to a contract, i.e., the customer (“lessee”) and the supplier (“lessor”).  IFRS 16 is effective from 
January 1, 2019.  All leases result in a company (the lessee) obtaining the right to use an asset at the start of the 
lease and, if lease payments are made over time, also obtaining financing.  Accordingly, IFRS 16 eliminates the 
classification of leases as either operating leases or finance leases as is required by IAS 17 and, instead, 
introduces a single lessee accounting model.  Applying that model, a lessee is required to recognize:  (a) assets 
and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value; and 
(b) depreciation of lease assets separately from interest on lease liabilities in the income statement.  The 
Company has not yet determined the impact of IFRS 16 on its financial statements.    
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5 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these Financial Statements are set out below. These 
policies have been consistently applied to all the periods presented, unless otherwise stated. 

A) Cash and cash equivalents  

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and short-term highly liquid investments with original 
maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject 
to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are 
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Company’s cash management system. Cash subject to 
restrictions that prevent its use for current purposes is reported in restricted cash. 
 

B) Financial instruments 

Recognition and initial measurement  

Financial instruments are recognized on the date of origination at the fair value of consideration exchanged. 
Except for financial instruments carried at fair value through profit or loss, the initial measurement includes 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to its issuance.  

Classification and subsequent measurement 

The Company’s financial assets are predominantly comprised of mortgages receivable.   

Mortgages continue to be classified as amortized cost instruments using the effective interest rate method.  
Classification of debt instruments is determined based on:  

(i) the business model under which the asset is held; and  
(ii) the contractual cash flow characteristics of the instrument 

Mortgages are managed in order to generate cash flows from collection of contractual cash flows.  Contractual 
cash flows are consistent with basic lending arrangements and represent cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding.  

Principal is defined as the fair value of the instrument at initial recognition. Principal may change over the life of 
the instrument due to repayments.  

Interest is defined as consideration for the time value of money and the credit risk associated with the principal 
amount outstanding and for liquidity risk and administrative costs, as well as a profit margin. 

Prior to January 1, 2018, mortgages receivables were classified as loans and receivables which were also measured 
at amortized cost. 

All other financial assets and liabilities are classified as amortized cost instruments.  Prior to January 1, 2018, these 
instruments were also carried at amortized cost. 

De-recognition of financial assets 
 
De-recognition of a financial asset occurs when: 

- The Company does not have rights to receive cash flows from the asset; 
- The Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation 

to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through" 
arrangement; and either: 
- The Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or 
- The Company has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the 

asset, but has transferred control of the asset. 
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5 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

When the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-
through arrangement, and has neither transferred or retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the 
asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent of the Company’s continuing 
involvement in the asset. In that case, the Company also recognizes an associated liability. The transferred asset 
and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Company has 
retained. 
 
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires. 
Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, 
or the terms of the existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a 
de-recognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective 
carrying amount is recognized in comprehensive income. 

 

Impairment 

The Company recognizes expected credit losses (ECL) at an amount equal to 12 month ECL, if the credit risk on a 
mortgage at the reporting date has not increased significantly since initial recognition (Stage 1). A lifetime ECL is 
recorded on performing mortgages which are considered to have experienced a significant increase in credit risk 
(Stage 2) and on credit impaired financial assets (Stage 3).  
 
The main factors considered in determining a significant increase in credit risk include relative changes in 
probability of default since origination and certain other criteria such loan delinquency. 

Evidence of a significant increase in credit risk include factors such as: 

• significant financial difficulty of the borrower;  

• default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;  

• high probability of the borrower entering a phase of bankruptcy or a financial reorganization;  

• measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from the loan or the underlying assets that back the 
mortgage. 

Mortgages overdue for 30 days are considered Stage 2 mortgages and those overdue by 90 days are considered 
impaired (Stage 3). 

Credit loss calculations are outputs of models with a number of underlying assumptions regarding the choice of 
variable inputs and their interdependencies. The expected credit loss impairment model reflects the present value 
of all cash shortfalls related to default events over the expected life of a financial instrument.  

The probability of default (“PD”), exposure at default (“EAD”), and loss given default (“LGD”) inputs used to 
estimate expected credit losses are modelled based on macroeconomic variables that are most closely related 
with credit losses in the relevant portfolio.  The measurement of expected credit losses considers information 
about past events and current conditions as well as reasonable and supportable forecasts of future events and 
economic conditions. The estimation and application of forward-looking information requires significant 
judgement. 
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5 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Prior to January 1, 2018, the Company assessed at each reporting date whether there was any objective evidence 
that a mortgage receivable was impaired.   Specific allowances were recorded on a mortgage-by-mortgage basis if 
management determined that a mortgage receivable was impaired.  In such cases, a specific provision was 
established to write down the loan to the estimated future net cash flows from the loan discounted at the loans’ 
original effective interest rate. In cases where it was impractical to estimate the future cash flows, the carrying 
amount of the loan was reduced to its fair value calculated based on an observable market price. Specific 
allowances included consideration of the credit worthiness of individual borrowers and the value of the collateral 
underlying the loan. 
 
For mortgages not subject to a specific allowance assessment, mortgages were then assessed collectively to 
determine whether provision should be made due to incurred loss events for which there is objective evidence but 
whose effects are not yet evident. The collective provision took account of data from the loan portfolio and based 
on analysis of historical data, such as credit quality, levels of arrears, historical performance and economic outlook.  
Collective allowances also considered current economic conditions. 

 
Presentation of Allowance for ECL 
 
Mortgages receivable are presented on a net basis, where the loss allowances for ECL are deducted from the gross 
carrying amount of the assets.  
 
Write-offs 
 
Mortgages are written off when there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the 
Company determines that the borrower does not have assets or a source of income that could generate sufficient 
cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. However, financial assets that are written off could still 
be subject to enforcement activities.  
 

C) Assets taken as settlement of debt 

Assets taken as settlement of debt are initially recorded at carrying value of the mortgage receivable which 
comprises principal, costs incurred, accrued interest and the related allowance for mortgage losses.  Cost 
subsequently includes disbursements related to the asset, less any revenues or lease payments received.  Assets 
taken as settlement of debt are re-measured to fair value at each reporting period.   
 

D) Fair value 

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active markets at each reporting date is determined by 
reference to quoted market prices or dealer price quotations, without any deduction for transaction costs. 
 
For financial instruments not traded in an active market and non-financial assets, the fair value is determined 
using appropriate valuation techniques. Such techniques may include using recent arm’s length market 
transactions; reference to the current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same; a 
discounted cash flow analysis or other valuation models. 
 
Fair value measurements are classified in the fair value hierarchy based on the lowest level input that is 
significant to that fair value measurement. This assessment requires judgment, considering factors specific to an 
asset or a liability and may affect placement within the fair value hierarchy.  
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5 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

The Company classifies fair value measurements recognized in the Statement of Financial Position using a three-
tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value as follows: 
 

 Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) are available in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

 Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly or indirectly; and 

 Level 3: Unobservable inputs in which there is little or no market data, which require the Company to 
develop its own assumptions. 

E) Revenue recognition 

Interest income is recognized on the Statement of Comprehensive Income for all financial assets measured at 
amortized cost using the effective interest rate method applied to the amortized cost of the asset. The effective 
interest rate is the rate that discounts estimated future cash flows through the expected life of the financial 
instrument back to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.   The application of the method has the effect 
of recognizing revenue of the financial instrument evenly in proportion to the amount outstanding over the 
period to maturity or repayment. 
 
Fee revenue received is amortized into income over the term of the specific mortgage using the effective interest 
rate method. 
 

F) Property and equipment 

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and/or accumulated impairment losses 
if any. Such cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. When parts of 
an item of property, plant and equipment have different lives, they are accounted for as separate items of 
property, plant and equipment. When significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be 
replaced in intervals, the Company recognizes such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and 
depreciation, respectively. All other repair and maintenance costs are recognized in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income as incurred.  

Depreciation is calculated to recognize the cost less estimated residual value using the straight-line method over 
the estimated useful life of the assets, typically 3 years. 
 
The assets’ residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed at each financial year end and 
adjusted prospectively, if appropriate. 
 
Gains or losses arising from de-recognition of an item of property and equipment are measured as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income when the asset is derecognized. 
 

G) Leases 

A lease that transfers substantially all of the benefits and risks of ownership is classified as a finance lease.  At the 
inception of a finance lease, an asset and a payment obligation are recorded at an amount equal to the lesser of 
the present value of the minimum lease payments and the asset’s fair market value at inception of the lease.  
Assets under finance leases are amortized on the straight-line basis, over their estimated useful lives.  All other 
leases are accounted for as operating leases and rental payments are expensed as incurred. 
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5 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

H) Taxes 

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current income tax is the expected tax payable or 
receivable in respect of the taxable income or loss for the year, using income tax rates enacted or substantively 
enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustments to tax payable in respect of previous years. Deferred income 
tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future income tax consequences attributable to temporary 
differences between financial statement carrying amounts and amounts used for taxation purposes. These 
amounts are measured using enacted or substantially enacted income tax rates at the reporting date and re-
measured annually for rate changes. Deferred income tax assets are recognized for the benefit of deductions 
available to be carried forward to future periods for income tax purposes to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable income will be available against which the deductible temporary differences can be utilized. Deferred 
income tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable 
that the related income tax benefit will be realized. Any effect of the re-measurement or re-assessment is 
recognized through profit or loss in the period of change.  
 
Mortgage Investment Corporations (MIC’s) are able to deduct, in computing taxable income, dividends paid 
to its shareholders during the year or within 90 days after year end. This deduction is dependent on a Company 
qualifying as a MIC at the time of a distribution. 
 

I) Share capital 

Shares issued are classified as either a financial liability or equity in accordance with the substance of the 
contractual terms of the instrument.   
 
Dividends payable to holders of Class A shares are recognized, when declared, in the statement of changes in 
shareholders’ equity. 
 

J) Share issue costs 

Share issue costs include legal and accounting fees and brokerage commissions.  These costs are charged against 
share capital in the year of share issuance.  Costs incurred for shares that have not been issued at year end are 
deferred until such time as the related shares are issued. 
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6 Mortgages receivable 
Distribution of mortgages: 
 
Portfolio of 21 (2017 – 27) mortgages bearing interest at fixed rates from 5.0% to 13.0% (2017 – 5.0% to 13.0%) with 
maturities ranging from January 2019 to November 2021, secured by real property to which they relate and by 
additional security in certain circumstances. 
 
December 31, 2018 

 Number of 
mortgages 

Gross carrying value Expected credit loss Net carrying value 

Residential 14 2,549,121 1,004,520 1,544,601 

Commercial 7 9,546,166 6,966,037 2,580,129 

     

Total 21 12,095,287 7,970,557 4,124,730 

 
 
December 31, 2017 

 Number of 
mortgages 

Gross carrying value Allowance for credit 
losses 

Net carrying value 

Residential 19 4,371,449 1,441,949 2,929,500 

Commercial 8 8,992,279 6,201,888 2,790,391 

     

Total 27 13,363,728 7,643,837 5,719,891 

 
 
Maturities and yields: 

December 31, 2018 
Within 3 
months 

Over 3 months 
to 1 year  Over 1 year Total 

Total mortgages 11,894,202 162,890 38,195 12,095,287 
Effective interest rate % 10.4% 10.5% 10.8% 10.4% 

     

December 31, 2017 
Within 3 
months 

Over 3 months 
to 1 year  Over 1 year Total 

Total mortgages 12,868,068 449,727 45,933 13,363,728 
  Effective interest rate % 10.7% 10.3% 10.9% 10.7% 
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6 Mortgages receivable (continued) 
Mortgage allowance details 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2018 allowance for credit 
losses under IFRS 9 

    

     
 Performing (Stage 1) 

  
Significant 
increase in 
credit risk 
(Stage 2) 

  

Expected Credit 
Losses on 
Impaired 

Mortgages 
(Stage 3) 

 

Total 

     
Residential Mortgages – 
Gross Carrying Value 

 - 491,517 2,057,604 2,549,121 

     
Expected Credit Loss Balance 
on Residential Mortgages, 
beginning of year 

 
-  

 
151,398 

 
1,290,551 

 
1,441,949 

     
Provision for mortgage losses     
   Re-measurement - (46,430) 134,963 88,533 
   Transfers - (7,810) 7,810 - 

   Total provision for year - (54,240) 142,773 88,533 
Unwind of discount - - 117,216 117,216 
Accounts written off - - (643,178) (643,178) 

     
Expected Credit Loss Balance 
on Residential Mortgages, end 
of year 

-  
97,158 

 
907,362 

 
1,004,520 

     
     
Commercial Mortgages – 
Gross Carrying Value 

- 1,834,301 7,711,865 9,546,166 

     
Expected Credit Loss Balance 
on Commercial Mortgages, 
beginning of year 

 
-  

 
146,571 

 
6,055,317 

 
6,201,888 

     
Provision for mortgage losses     
   Re-measurement - 2,227 186,326 188,553 
   Transfers - - - - 

   Total provision for year - 2,227 186,326 188,553 
Unwind of discount - - 602,295 602,295 
Accounts written off - - (26,699) (26,699) 

     
Expected Credit Loss Balance 
on Commercial Mortgages, 
end of year 

-  
148,798 

 
6,817,239 

 
6,966,037 



PRIMEWEST MORTGAGE INVESTMENT CORPORATION 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the years ended December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 

PrimeWest Mortgage Investment Corporation  Page 15 
 

6 Mortgages receivable (continued) 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2017 allowance 
for credit losses under IAS 39 

    

 
Mortgage allowance details 
 

    
 Specific Collective Total 

Balance, beginning of year 5,404,882 859,554 6,264,436 
Provision for mortgage losses 3,294,902 (561,585) 2,733,317 
Unwind of discount 566,810 - 566,810 
Accounts written off (1,920,726) - (1,920,726) 

Balance, end of year 7,345,868 297,969 7,643,837 

 
 
Mortgages past due but not impaired 
 
A mortgage is considered past due when a counterparty has not made a payment by the contractual due date.  The 
table that follows presents the carrying value of mortgages at year-end that are past due but not classified as 
impaired because they are fully secured and collection efforts are reasonably expected to result in repayment. 
 
 

December 31, 2018  

   
 

Under 30  
days 31-60 days 61-90 days          Total 

Residential - 37,823 - 37,823 

Commercial - 1,671,770 - 1,671,770 

  - 1,709,593 - 1,709,593 

Appraised value of collateral - 3,097,096 - 3,097,096 

     

     

December 31, 2017  
   

 
Under 30 

days 
31-60 

days 61-90 days            Total 

Residential 723,585 - - 723,585 

Commercial - - - - 

  723,585 - - 723,585 

Appraised value of collateral 1,087,096 - - 1,087,096 

 
The principal collateral and other credit enhancements the Company holds as security for loans include (i) property 
insurance, and mortgages over residential lots and properties, (ii) recourse to business assets such as real estate, 
equipment, inventory and accounts receivable, (iii) recourse to commercial real estate properties being financed, and 
(iv) recourse to liquid assets, guarantees and securities.  Valuations of collateral are updated periodically depending 
on the nature of the collateral.  In management's estimation, the fair value of the collateral is sufficient to offset the 
risk of loss on the mortgages past due but not impaired. 
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7 Assets taken in settlement of debt 
 
For the year ended  December 31, 

2018 
 December 31, 

2017 
 Properties Amount ($) Properties Amount ($) 

Balance, beginning of period 4 6,377,715 9 1,665,582 
Mortgages settled by taking property - - 4 8,117,762 
Costs incurred to sell  116,168  392,052 
Incremental loss recognized  (1,425,563)  (994,913) 
Properties sold (2) (30,000) (9) (2,802,768) 

Balance, end of year 2 5,038,320 4 6,377,715 

     
     

Assets taken in settlement of debt are carried at fair value using Level 3 inputs including property appraisals.  All of 
the assets taken on settlement of debt are residential properties.   
 
 

8 Demand loan 
  December 31,    

2018 
$ 

December 31, 
2017 

$ 

Operating line of credit  1,753,546 2,907,037 

  1,753,546 2,907,037 

 
The margined, demand operating line of credit bears interest at prime plus 2.0% (2017 – prime plus 1.5%), has an 
authorized limit which is the lesser of the margin calculation and $7,500,000 (December 31, 2017 - $7,500,000) and is 
secured by a general security agreement and an assignment of mortgages receivable. The operating line’s margin is 
calculated using variable percentages of eligible mortgages as set out by the bank.    The annual review of the credit 
agreement completed in June 2018 reflected an increase to the interest rate to prime plus 2.0% from prime plus 1.5%. 
 
At year-end the maximum margin available was $4,434,500 (December 31, 2017 - $6,081,200). 
 
The credit agreement contains certain financial covenants that must be maintained.  At December 31, 2018 the 
Company was in compliance with all financial covenants.    
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9 Shareholders’ equity 

A) Authorized shares  

The Company's authorized share capital consists of: 

- An unlimited number of Class A voting, common shares, redeemable at the option of the Company and 
retractable at the option of the holder.   A shareholder calls for redemption of shares held by such 
shareholder by giving notice to the Company during the period April 1 to April 30th of a particular year 
(the “Redemption Period”), the Company shall on or before July 31st, and provided redemption requests 
for the year do not exceed 10% of the issued and outstanding Class A Shares, redeem the shares at the 
price equal to the lesser of (a) $10.00 per share; and (b) the book value per Class A Share as stated in the 
audited financial statements for the year ended immediately prior to the Redemption Period.  The Board 
may at its discretion waive the restriction and increase the number of Class “A” shares that the Company 
may redeem in any fiscal year.   

- If the shareholder requests redemption within the first year of issuance, a redemption penalty of 3% will 
apply, unless waived by the Board of Directors.  The maximum annual redemption is 10% of the issued 
and outstanding shares at the beginning of the fiscal year.  In an effort to enhance the share liquidity for 
the shareholders, the Company began trading on the Canadian Securities Exchange under the symbol 
PRI.  

- An unlimited number of Class B common shares may, at any time, or from time to time, be issued in one 
or more series.  The Board of Directors, subject to certain limitations, shall determine upon issuance of 
any Class B shares the number of shares to be issued and the designation, rights, privileges, restrictions 
and conditions attached to those shares.  None of these are defined in the articles of the Company and 
would therefore be presented to shareholders for approval. 

 
 

B) Issued and outstanding 

Class A Common shares Number of Shares $ 

At December 31, 2016 1,890,729 15,681,364 

At December 31, 2017  1,890,729 15,681,364 

   
Shares redeemed (2,355) (3,829) 

At December 31, 2018 1,888,374 15,677,535 

 
Class A shares represent the residual equity interest of the Company, the redemption feature applies to all the Class A 
shares, the shares have no preferential rights and the redemption event is the same for all the Class A shares and 
accordingly are recorded as equity. 
 
To satisfy an outstanding receivable, during 2018, the Board approved the return to treasury of 2,355 (2017 – Nil) 
shares.  The valuation was determined in early July 2018 based on the average CSE traded price of $1.63 per share.   
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10 Loss per share 

Basic loss per share  

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing loss attributable to ordinary equity holders (the numerator) by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding (the denominator) during the year. The denominator 
(number of units) is calculated by adjusting the shares in issue at the beginning of the year by the number of shares 
bought back or issued during the year, multiplied by a time-weighting factor. 
 
Weighted average number of common shares  
 
 

December 31, 
2018 

$ 

December 31, 
2017 

$ 

Issued common shares outstanding, beginning of year 1,890,729 1,890,729 
Effect of shares redeemed (65) - 
Weighted average number of common shares, end of year 1,890,664 1,890,729 

 
 December 31, 

2018 
$ 

December 31, 
2017 

$ 

Total comprehensive loss (1,779,157) (3,077,888) 
Weighted average number of common shares 1,890,664 1,890,729 

Loss per share (.94) (1.63) 

 
There is no dilutive effect during the years ending December 31, 2018 or December 31, 2017.  Therefore, the basic 
loss per share equals the diluted loss per share. 
 

11 Related party disclosure 

Compensation of key management personnel  

Key management personnel (“KMP”) consist of the CEO and CFO.   KMP remuneration includes the following 
expenses: 

 
December 31, 

2018 
$ 

December 31, 
2017 

$ 

Salaries, fees and short-term benefits 120,000 159,375 

Transactions with directors  

The remuneration of directors during the year consisted of directors fees in the amount of $78,000 (2017 – $87,300). 
 
In the year-ended December 31, 2018 the Company paid property maintenance and inspection fees on defaulted 
mortgages in the amount of $6,265 (2017 - $992) to a Management Company in which a director is a shareholder.  
These transactions were incurred during the normal course of operations on similar terms and conditions to those 
entered into with unrelated parties.  These transactions are measured at the exchange amount, which is the amount 
of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties. 
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12 Capital management 

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to (i) maintain a flexible capital structure which optimizes the 
cost of capital at acceptable risk; and (ii) to manage capital in a manner which balances the interests of equity and 
debt holders.   

The Company’s definition of capital includes shareholders’ equity.  Capital is monitored for any of these items if 
applicable. 

The Company seeks to facilitate the management of its capital requirements by preparing annual expenditure budgets 
that are updated as necessary and approved by the Board of Directors. The Company may occasionally need to 
increase these levels to facilitate acquisition or expansion activities, however there are no established quantitative 
returns on capital requirements for management. The Company considers the capital structure to consist of debt and 
shareholders' equity. The Company considers debt to include bank indebtedness, demand loans and due to related 
parties.  

 
 December 31, 

2018 
$ 

December 31, 
2017 

$ 

Demand loan  1,753,546 2,907,037 
Other liabilities  85,891 91,448 

Total debt  1,839,437 2,998,485 
    
Shareholders' equity  7,420,656 9,203,642 

Total capitalization  9,260,093 12,202,127 

    
The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions 
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets.  In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company 
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, redeem shares for cancellation pursuant to normal course 
issuer bids, issue new shares, issue new debt, and issue new debt to replace existing debt. 
 
Pursuant to the Company’s credit agreement (Note 8) it is required to meet certain financial covenants.  If the 
Company is in violation of any of these covenants its ability to pay dividends may be inhibited. The Company monitors 
these covenants to ensure it remains in compliance.    

 

13 Financial instruments and risk management 
The Company as part of its operations carries a number of financial instruments. It is management's opinion that the 
Company is not exposed to significant interest, currency or credit risks arising from these financial instruments except 
as otherwise disclosed. 
 
Risk management policy 

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: credit risk, liquidity risk, and market risk. The 
Company’s overall risk management program focuses on avoidance of undue concentrations of risk, hedging of risk 
exposures, and requirements for collateral to mitigate credit risk as risk management objectives. In seeking to meet 
these objectives, the Company follows risk management policies approved by its Board of Directors. 
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13 Financial instruments and risk management (continued) 
 
These risk management policies and procedures include the following: 

 Ensure all activities are consistent with the mission, vision and values of the Company; 

 Balance risk and return; 

 Manage credit, market and liquidity risk through preventative and detective controls; 

 Ensure credit quality is maintained; 

 Ensure credit, market, and liquidity risk are maintained at acceptable levels; 

 Diversify risk in transactions, customer relationships and loan portfolios; 

 Price according to risk taken; and 

 Use consistent credit risk exposure tools. 
 
Risk management is carried out by senior management, the policies of which are determined by the Board of 
Directors. 
 
There have been no significant changes from the previous year in the policies and procedures or methods used to 
measure risk. 
 
Credit risk 

Credit risk is defined as the risk that a mortgagor will be unable to fulfill their mortgage commitments.  Credit risk 
primarily arises from mortgages receivable. Management and the Board of Directors review and update the credit risk 
policy annually. 
 
Concentration of credit risk exists if a number of borrowers are engaged in similar economic activities or are located in 
the same geographical region, and indicate the relative sensitivity of the Company’s performance to developments 
affecting a particular segment of borrowers or geographical region. Geographical risk exists for the Company due to 
its primary service area being Saskatoon, Regina and surrounding areas. 
 
Credit risk management for mortgage portfolio 
The Company mitigates this risk by having well established lending policies in place.  Policies include but are not 
limited to: 
 

1. All mortgage applications undergo a comprehensive due diligence process adhering to investment 
restrictions and operating policies development by the Company. 

2. Prior to funding, the Company will obtain current appraisals on all properties which secure the loan.  The 
appraisals will be completed by an accredited appraiser approved by the Company. 

3. All mortgages are registered as charges against real property, provided that the overall loan to appraised 
value ratio does not exceed 85% at funding (including prior charges). 

4. The initial term of a mortgage cannot exceed 24 months. 
5. The Company will not make a mortgage loan, if immediately after the closing of the loan transaction; the 

amount so lent would be greater than 20% of the Company’s net assets. 
6. Management actively monitors the mortgage portfolio. 

 
Risk is measured by reviewing qualitative and quantitative factors that impact the mortgage portfolio and starts at the 
time of a credit application and continues until the loan is fully repaid. 
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13 Financial instruments and risk management (continued) 
 
Analysis of maximum exposure to credit and collateral 
The maximum exposure to credit risk at December 31, 2018 is the fair value of its mortgage receivables, mortgage 
interest receivable and loan receivables which total $4,124,730 (December 31, 2017 - $5,719,891).   
 
To reduce the exposure the Company holds collateral as security on its mortgages.  The collateral consists of a charge 
against real property on each mortgage.  At December 31, 2018 the fair value of the collateral on the mortgages 
receivable is in excess of the fair value of the mortgages receivable. 
 
Credit quality, mortgage types and renegotiated mortgages 
The Company`s portfolio consists of both residential and commercial mortgages as follows before the allowance for 
mortgage losses of $7,970,557 (2017 - $7,643,837) 
 
  December 31,   

2018 
$ 

December 31, 
2017 

$ 

Residential first mortgages  2,176,966 4,211,678 
Residential second mortgages  38,190 38,074 
Commercial first mortgages  5,433,952 5,279,997 
Commercial second mortgages  4,112,214 3,712,282 
Residential mortgages with no security  333,965 121,697 

  12,095,287 13,363,728 

 
*First mortgages are loans secured by a first priority mortgage charge with loan to values not exceeding 85% at 
funding.     
**Second mortgages are loans with mortgage charges not registered in first priority with loan to values not exceeding 
85% at funding. 
 
The mortgage portfolio consists of mortgages that have been registered 81.4% in Saskatchewan (December 31, 2017 
– 84.7%), 18.1% in Alberta (December 31, 2017 – 14.9%) and 0.5% in Manitoba (December 31, 2017 – 0.4%). 
 
The Company does not internally assign credit quality ratings to its mortgages that are neither past due nor impaired.   
In addition, there is a limited market for such a portfolio of mortgages so standard credit ratings have not been used.  
However, the Company actively monitors its mortgage portfolio, the quality of the mortgages and any impairment. 
 
Additional information on credit quality and mortgages past due but not impaired is included in Note 6. 
 
Collateral obtained 
During the year the Company did not obtain any assets by taking possession of collateral it holds as security in 
settlement of debt.  The Company took possession of $Nil (December 31, 2017 - $8,117,762) of property (Note 7).  
The Company`s policy for these assets is to sell the assets to recover funds loaned. 
 
Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with 
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.  Liquidity risk arises because of the 
possibility that the Company might be unable to meet its payment obligations when they fall due.  To limit this risk, 
the Company’s approach is to ensure that it has sufficient cash and credit facilities to meet its liabilities when due, 
under both normal and stressed circumstances.   
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13 Financial instruments and risk management (continued) 
 
The Company's operating cash requirements are continuously monitored by Management and the Board of Directors. 
As factors impacting cash requirements change, liquidity risks may necessitate the need for the Company to raise 
capital by issuing equity or obtaining additional debt financing. In addition, the mortgage receivables have short 
maturity terms (3 – 24 months) which provide additional liquidity in the event of an unforeseen interruption of cash 
flow.  The Company can convert the mortgages, if needed, to cash instead of renewing for another term or lending 
under a new mortgage. 
 
The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities based on contractual 
undiscounted payments. 
  

On demand 
 

 
Less than 3 

months 

 
3 to 12 

months 

 
Over 1 year 

 
Total 

As at December 31, 2018      
Demand loan 1,753,546 - - - 1,753,546 
Other liabilities - 85,891 - - 85,891 

 1,753,546 85,891 - - 1,839,437 

 
 
 

 
On demand 

 
Less than 3 

months 

 
3 to 12 

months 

 
Over 1 year 

 
Total 

As at December 31, 2017      
Demand loan 2,907,037 - - - 2,907,037 
Other liabilities - 91,448 - - 91,448 

 2,907,037 91,448 - - 2,998,485 

 
 
The Company manages liquidity risk on a net asset and liability basis. The following tables explain the contractual 
maturities of financial assets held for the purpose of managing liquidity risk.  While best efforts are made to collect on 
mortgages due, payouts of mortgages receivable may not occur on the maturity dates. 
  

On demand 
 

Less than 3 
months 

 
3 to 12 

months 

 
Over 1 year 

 
Total 

As at December 31, 2018      
Cash and cash equivalents 48,400 - - - 48,400 
Mortgages receivable - 3,942,710 161,480 20,540 4,124,730 
Other assets 48,643 - - - 48,643 

 97,043 3,942,710 161,480 20,540 4,221,773 

 
 
 
 

 
On demand 

 
Less than 3 

months 

 
3 to 12 

months 

 
Over 1 year  

 
Total 

As at December 31, 2017      
Cash and cash equivalents 50,431 - - - 50,431 
Mortgages receivable - 5,248,915 445,948 25,028 5,719,891 
Other assets 54,090 - - - 54,090 

 104,521 5,248,915 445,948 25,028 5,824,412 
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13 Financial instruments and risk management (continued) 

Market risk 

Market risk is the risk of loss in value of financial instruments that may arise from changes in market factors such as 
interest rates, equity prices and credit spreads. The Company’s exposure changes depending on market conditions. 
Market risks that have a significant impact on the Company include fair value risk and interest rate risk.  

Risk measurement 

The Company’s risk position is measured and monitored each quarter to ensure compliance with policy. Management 
reports on these matters to the Company's Board of Directors. 

Objectives, policies and processes 

Management is responsible for managing the Company’s interest rate risk, monitoring approved limits and 
compliance with policies. The Company manages market risk by developing and implementing policies, which are 
approved and periodically reviewed by the Board. 
 
The Company’s goal is to achieve adequate levels of profitability, liquidity and safety. The Board of Directors reviews 
the Company’s investment management policies periodically to ensure they remain relevant and effective in 
managing and controlling risk. 
 

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future cash flows of the fair values 
of financial instruments. 
 
The Company is exposed to interest rate price risk both on its demand loan and its mortgage receivables.  The 
demand loan consists of an operating line of credit that bears interest at variable rates, which exposes the Company 
to cash flow fluctuations.  An increase in prime interest rates will have a direct impact on the cash flows required to 
service the debt.  The fair value of the Company`s mortgage receivables will also be impacted by changes in the 
market interest rate.  On loan origination, the Company`s mortgages are initially short, fixed term mortgages ranging 
up to 24 months.  Any change in the market interest rate will expose the Company to fair value fluctuations in their 
portfolio. 
 
The Company has managed this risk by maintaining an adequate spread between the interest rate paid on the 
demand loan and the interest received on the fixed, short-term mortgages.  The Company also manages the risk by 
maintaining a mortgage portfolio of short term, fixed mortgages with rates at a premium from market rates.  The 
average interest rate of the mortgages as at year end was 10.4% (December 31, 2017 – 10.7%).  There is no specific 
market for mortgages of similar type, term and credit risk. 
 
The following demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other variables 
held constant: 
  

Demand 
loan – 

sensitivity 

Mortgages 
receivable – 

sensitivity  

Total 
December 

31, 2018 

 
Demand 

loan – 
sensitivity 

Mortgages 
receivable – 

sensitivity  

Total 
December 

31, 2017  

Increase in 25 basis points (4,384) 10,312 5,928 (7,268) 14,300 7,032 
Increase in 50 basis points (8,768) 20,624 11,856 (14,536) 28,600 14,064 
Decrease in 25 basis points 4,384 (10,312) (5,928) 7,268 (14,300) (7,032) 
Decrease in 50 basis points 8,768 (20,624) (11,856) 14,536 (28,600) (14,064) 
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13 Financial instruments and risk management (continued) 
 
Demand Loan sensitivity is calculated by applying the basis point change to the balance of the demand loan at year 
end.  The mortgage receivable sensitivity is calculated by applying the basis point change to the balance of the 
mortgage receivables at year end. 
 

Interest rate re-price 
   December 31, 

2018 
December 31, 

2017 

 
On 

demand 
Within 3 
months 

Over 3 
months 

to 1 year 
 Over  

1 year 

Not 
interest 

sensitive Total 

 
 

Total 
Assets        
Cash and cash equivalents 48,400 - - - - 48,400 50,431 
Mortgages receivable - 3,942,710 161,480 20,540 - 4,124,730 5,719,891 

Effective interest rate % - 10.4% 10.5% 10.8% - 10.4% 10.7% 
Other assets - - - - 48,643 48,643 54,090 

 48,400 3,942,710 161,480 20,540 48,643 4,221,773 5,824,412 

        

Liabilities        
Demand loan 1,753,546 - - - - 1,753,546 2,907,037 

Effective interest rate % 6.0% - - - - 6.0% 4.7% 
Other liabilities - - - - 85,891 85,891 91,448 

 1,753,546 - - - 85,891 1,839,437 2,998,485 

 

 

Fair values 

The Company's financial instruments recognized on the Statement of Financial Position consist of cash, other 
receivables, mortgages receivable, demand loan, trade and other payables, and due to related parties. The fair values 
of these recognized financial instruments, excluding mortgages receivable, approximate their carrying values due to 
their short-term maturity. The fair values of mortgages receivable approximates its carrying value given the 
mortgages receivable consist of short-term loans that are repayable at the option of the borrower without penalties.   
 

Recurring fair value measurements 
The Company’s financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis are comprised of cash which 
has been categorized in the fair value hierarchy as Level 1. 
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13 Financial instruments and risk management (continued) 
Financial assets and liabilities for which fair value is only disclosed  

The following table analyses within the fair value hierarchy the Company’s assets and liabilities (by class) not 

measured at fair value at December 31, 2018 but for which fair value is disclosed: 

December 31, 2018 Fair value Level 1 Level 2  Level 3 
     
Assets     
    Mortgages receivable 4,124,730 - - 4,124,730 
    Other assets 48,643 - - 48,643 

Total Assets 4,173,373 - - 4,173,373 

     
Liabilities     
    Demand loan 1,753,546 - 1,753,546 - 
    Other liabilities 85,891 - - 85,891 

Total Liabilities 1,839,437 - 1,753,546 85,891 

 
 

December 31, 2017 Fair value Level 1 Level 2  Level 3 
     
Assets     
    Mortgages receivable 5,719,891 - - 5,719,891 
    Other assets 54,090 - - 54,090 

Total Assets 5,773,981 - - 5,773,981 

     
Liabilities     
    Demand loan 2,907,037 - 2,907,037 - 
    Other liabilities 91,448 - - 91,448 

Total Liabilities 2,998,485 - 2,907,037 91,448 

 

All fair values disclosed and categorized within Level 2 of the hierarchy use a net present value valuation technique 

and inputs consisting of actual balances, actual rates, market rates (for similar instruments) and payment frequency.    

For mortgages receivable classified as Level 3 of the hierarchy, as there are no quoted prices in an active market for 

these mortgages receivable, the Company makes its determination of fair value based on its assessment of the 

current mortgage market for mortgages receivable of same or similar terms. Typically, these mortgage investments 

approximate their carrying values given the mortgages receivable consist of short-term loans that are repayable at the 

option of the borrower without penalties.  When collection of the principal amount of a mortgage is no longer 

reasonably assured, the fair value of the mortgage is reduced to the estimated net realizable value of the underlying 

security. The net realizable is estimated by looking at market information for comparable properties and market rents 

when using an income based approach. 
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14 Commitments and contingent liabilities 

Commitments 

The Company has entered into a lease agreement for its premises with future minimum lease commitments as 
follows: 
  $ 

2019  7,000 
Total  7,000 

 
At year end the Company committed to funding Nil (December 31, 2017 – 1) mortgages, for a total of $Nil (December 
31, 2017 - $658,500) 

Contingent liabilities 

 
In October 2017 the Corporation filed a Statement of Claim against Don Zealand, the former President and Chief 
Executive Officer of the Corporation.  The claim is for breach of corporate policy, gross negligence, and breach of 
fiduciary duty while acting as President and CEO.  Mr. Zealand denies all allegations and pleads counter claim for 
damages for wrongful dismissal.  A defence to the counter claim has been filed by the Corporation’s solicitors.  
 
During the year, the following three Statements of Claim were filed with the Court of Queen’s Bench for 
Saskatchewan against the Corporation and existing and past directors of the Corporation.  Due to the inherent 
uncertainties, no accurate quantification of any cost, or timing of such cost which may arise from any of the legal 
proceedings outlined below can be made. 
 

i) On June 12, 2018 Randy Koroluk commenced a class action lawsuit against the existing and past directors 
(since 2015) of the Corporation and others.  The legal action deals with oversight of the actions of Don 
Zealand, former CEO of the Corporation, and the collection and disposition of mortgaged assets since the 
departure of the former CEO.  The Statement of Claim alleges several categories of damages, including 
negligence and breach of trust.  The court action cannot proceed until it has been certified as a class action 
by the Saskatchewan Court of Queen’s Bench.  A defence will be filed denying all allegations. 
 

ii) On July 13, 2018 Debbie Gloria Burwash served the Corporation and others with a Statement of Claim 
seeking rescission of her shares or damages in lieu of rescission.  The Corporation’s solicitors have filed a 
defence to the claim.   
 

iii) On July 13, 2018 Granite Enterprises Inc. served the Corporation and others with a Statement of Claim 
seeking rescission of its shares or damages in lieu of rescission.  The Corporation’s solicitors have filed a 
defence to the claim.   
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15 Income taxes  
The Company has non-capital loss carry forwards for income tax purposes of $8,929,400 which will expire as follows:  
  $ 

2031  109,380 
2032  208,726 
2033  196,178 
2036  4,930,232 
2037  3,072,113 
2038  412,771 

Total  8,929,400 

 
In addition to these non-capital loss carryforwards there are $1,018,412 and $2,085,384 of temporary differences that 
will become deductible should all recorded allowances for mortgage losses and loss on assets taken in settlement of 
debt become realized. The potential benefits of these temporary differences and loss carry forwards have not been 
recognized in these financial statements. 

16 Comparatives 
Certain prior year’s comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to the current year’s presentation. 
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